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I’m pleased to present Livv Housing Group’s 
financial statements for 2023/24. 

Our results reflect the strategic choices and 
decisions that we made throughout the year as a 
Board. 

We understand our homes and customers and 
are mindful of the challenges in the operating 
environment. With all of this in mind, we’ve 
chosen to continue to invest more in our homes 
and services, allocating resource to deliver our 
2023-26 Corporate Plan aspiration to do more. 

Our primary goal is to ensure that our offer to 
customers is the right one, that our homes and 
services are fit for purpose and that we can 
respond well to the rapidly changing operating 
environment. 

Despite investing more in homes and services, our results continue to compare well with peers, 
demonstrating great organisational resilience. 

We’re proud of the significant progress we’ve made in developing our colleague offering, establishing 
Livv as an employer of choice in the region and further afield. Additionally, our commitment to achieving 
net zero and decarbonising our homes, as well as expanding into new boroughs, has strengthened our 
brand.

Moving forward, we’ll continue to invest strategically, unlocking the potential within our communities 
and colleagues. By working hard to develop new and foster existing partnerships and relationships, we’ll 
have the capacity and capability to do more.

I’m grateful to our colleagues who embody our values, creating positive impact and fostering flourishing 
communities. Working together we will continue to focus on the six themes that cut straight to the core 
of what matters most - our customers, their homes, the impact we make in our communities, our green 
commitment to help protect the planet, our places and our people. Together, we are an employer of 
choice and a great place to work.

 
Philip Raw 
Chairman

Chair of the Board’s introduction
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During the first year of our new corporate plan, 
we’ve encountered both opportunities and 
challenges. These experiences have only made 
us more ambitious, and determined to do even 
more for our customers, colleagues and in our 
communities.

Our core responsibility is to provide quality 
homes and services that meet our customers’ 
needs and our stakeholders’ expectations. We 
understand the investment requirements of our 
homes, and the expectations of our customers 
and communities, and aim to make a meaningful 
difference through the work that we do and the 
wider partnerships that we make. 

We continue to be financially resilient and 
operationally strong, with an operating margin 
that compares well with peers, and strong credit 
and liquidity positions that are supported by our 
funding partners. We’ve performed well this 
year despite investing more, which enables us to 
continue to do more and make the right strategic 
choices.  

Our strategic approach to asset management 
has positioned us ahead of government 
environmental targets, with the target of 
achieving EPC Level C in all of our homes in 
2025. We continue to refresh the profile of our 
homes through development and regeneration 
programmes, a legacy of investment which will 
continue to improve our communities over the 
coming years.

Regulation of our sector is focused on the 
standards of customers’ homes and the quality 
of services provided, with a continued spotlight 
on decency, safety and knowing your customer 
and homes. 

Chief Executive statement
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We’ll continue to invest in our systems, and our 
colleagues learning and development, to ensure 
that we will continue to know our customers 
and homes in this fast moving and demanding 
environment. We are prioritising safety, 
affordability, and the customer experience as we 
navigate this changing world. Collaboration will 
also continue to be a key aspect of our culture, 
and we’ll actively look for further strategic 
partnerships which help us grow and build on 
our successes.  

Our colleagues’ commitment to delivering an 
excellent service is just as vital as the quality 
of our homes. I want to thank our colleagues 
for making a difference every day - their 
commitment to ‘doing more’ will shape our 
future.

We will do more, deliver more, be more. I’m 
looking forward to leading our people and our 
business through the exciting challenges and 
opportunities that lie ahead. 

Léann Hearne 
Chief Executive
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Strategic report
Business overview and structure
Livv Housing Group is a Registered Provider of 
social housing regulated by the Regulator of 
Social Housing (RoSH). It operates from its main 
head office at Kings Business Park, Prescot. 

Livv Housing Group owns and manages 
circa 13,000 properties and works both 
independently and in partnership with others, 
to deliver low cost home ownership, shared 
ownership, sheltered schemes and independent 
living services.

Livv Housing Group is a charitable Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Society (CBS) registered 
with the Financial Conduct Authority under the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 (Registration number 007773).

The full Group and Board structure is outlined 
on pages 22 to 25.
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Five year financial summary
The five-year consolidated financial performance of Livv Housing Group can be summarised 
as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

£’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Total Turnover 74,010 67,757 65,884 65,575 64,988 

Operating Surplus 14,411 20,871 25,630 17,926 15,088 

Surplus for the year (excl. Fair Value 
adjustment)

6,419 13,283 17,577 9,970 7,068 

Fair Value adjustment (300) 14,325 6,166 (851) 681 

Pension Scheme Remeasurement 16 175 (15) (176) 146 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 6,135 27,783 23,728 8,943 7,895 

Statement of Financial Position 

Housing properties 318,566 289,620 265,023 251,998 239,234 

Other fixed assets 2,138 2,535 1,000 1,594 1,545 

Social investments 3 28 66 128               -   

Fixed assets 320,707 292,183 266,089 253,720 240,779 

Net current assets 15,836 35,084 42,326 35,272 28,323 

Total assets less current liabilities 336,543 327,267 308,415 288,992 269,102 

Loans due over 1 year 166,816 166,719 181,744 189,616 185,920 

Pensions liability 1,824 1,885 2,135 2,187 2,040 

Grants 56,811 53,875 47,612 44,024 39,636 

Other long term liabilities 448 279 196 165 111 

Reserves 110,644 104,509 76,728 53,000 41,395 

336,543 327,267 308,415 288,992 269,102 

Financial review
Strategic report (continued)
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Financial performance
Livv Housing Group’s operating surplus is £14.4m, compared to £20.9m in 2022/23. Whilst the 
current year figures include Livv Maintenance and FASI, this has not had a significant impact on trading 
performance. More details can be found in the Value for Money review section on pages 14 to 21.

Statement of financial position
Livv Housing Group invested £30.2m in new properties and a further £8.4m in existing properties. 
This is partially offset by disposals, write-offs and depreciation, resulting in a net increase of £28.9m 
in the year. 

The Group accesses debt funding to support delivery of new homes. The funding and repayment 
profile is outlined in note 26. The Group also has significant reserves at 31 Match 2024 of £110.6m  
(2023: £104.5m).

Cash flow
The Group cash flow is detailed on page 47 of this report.

Strategic report (continued)
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Treasury management
The Group’s Treasury Management Policy aims to provide clear objectives for our treasury 
management activities, emphasising the overriding importance of effective risk management, 
ensuring transparency for treasury management decisions and encouraging the pursuit of value for 
money in treasury management. 

Treasury management includes the group’s borrowings, investments and cashflows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
these activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with these risks.

The group regards the successful identification, monitoring, and control of risk to be the prime 
criteria by which the effectiveness of treasury management activities will be measured. Accordingly, 
the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on the risk implications for 
the group and in particular the Parent, and any financial instruments entered into to manage these 
risks.

The group acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support towards the 
achievement of its business and service objectives. It is committed to the principles of achieving 
value for money (VFM) in treasury management, and employing comprehensive performance 
measurement techniques, to effectively manage risk.

Strategic report (continued)
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Value for Money statement 2023/24
Our Approach to  
Value for Money 
Value for Money (VFM) means using our 
financial and operational resources and 
capacity to meet our core purpose and strategic 
objectives in an economic, effective and efficient 
way. The Board and Executive are committed to 
ensuring that our approach delivers the optimal 
value and resource balance across the group 
whilst also ensuring that we meet regulatory 
expectation.

Core Purpose and Values 
Livv stands for an unwavering commitment to 
serving local communities, by forging strong 
partnerships, pioneering new ways of working 
and building a highly skilled, steadfast team to 
deliver ambitious strategies.

We’re here for the long term to help people live 
happy, successful and fulfilled lives in diverse, 
welcoming places where they want to stay. Our 
mission is to provide homes and opportunities 
for everyone – young or old, family, couple or 
single person. The values that motivate and 
drive us to do this are:

Making a difference daily - Investing in our 
people, customers and a fairer society.
Being positively open - Welcoming feedback 
to help us provide first-class homes and 
experiences.
Forging the right way - Creating an inspiring 
road for others to follow. 
Together as one - Every team and person 
working cohesively to deliver better outcomes.

Strategic Objectives 
Over the three years of our 2023-26 corporate 
plan we’ll focus on six strategic themes to 
build on the strong foundations that we have 
established.

Customers: we’ll deliver services shaped with 
and for our customers, and make ongoing 
engagement part of our organisational DNA.

Homes: we’ll maintain and manage homes to 
a high standard and in line with building safety 
regulations.

Impact: we’ll support customers and 
communities by providing opportunities that 
enhance their lives, with employment, skills, 
health and wellbeing.

Green: we want to create energy-efficient 
homes that provide affordable warmth for 
our customers, helping us to do our bit for the 
environment.

Places: we’ll build homes, communities and 
create inspiring places, offering the opportunity 
for people to own their own home.

People: we’ll be an employer of choice and a 
great place to work.

These themes reflect the markets and landscape 
in which we operate. They’ll help guide us 
to achieve our objectives, while enabling us 
to be flexible and responsive to the needs of 
customers and communities. 

We seek Value for Money (VFM) as a priority, 
with decisions driven by data and insight, and 
success monitored through key performance 
indicators. We want to continuously improve 
how we do things, so we’re open to developing 
partnerships with organisations that can help 
us to grow, enhance our customer offer and 
maintain our strong financial position.

Strategic report (continued)



Livv Housing Group 2023/24  15

The overarching intent of our VFM strategy is to 
further embed VFM in a way which continues 
to deliver tangible, measurable and transparent 
benefits for us in support of the delivery of the 
corporate plan. We have three VFM objectives:

•	Improve operational economy, effectiveness 
and efficiency;

•	Increase development supply and capacity; 
and

•	Deliver economic, effective and efficient asset 
management. 

We have twenty VFM measures and targets to 
track our progress across these three objectives. 
We compare our performance with groups of 
regional and national peers using the global 
accounts and other benchmarking sources such 
as Housemark and CIPD. Our ambition is to 
deliver customer service levels that compare 
well with some of the best service providers 
outside of housing, so we also look to sectors 
like retail and utilities for comparison on our 
primary measure in that area of performance - 
Customer Ease. 

We have reported our multi-year performance 
across each objective in this statement - as well 
as outlining our future targets and expectations, 
with a continuing focus on supporting our 
customers in these extremely challenging times 
and applying our resources accordingly. All of 
this is linked to our 2023-26 corporate plan 
aims and objectives. We also provide additional 
contextual VFM information to stakeholders 
through our Customer Annual Report, our Social 
Accounts, and through publication on the TSMs.

VFM targets are set having considered historic 
and forecast performance, benchmarks, and 
the operational and strategic context. During 
2023/24 performance improvement remained 
focused on benefit realisation in the key 

operational areas of repairs and investment, 
complaints handling, energy efficiency, income 
collection and arrears management, people 
services, and the delivery of new homes. With 
stretch targets set in all of these areas and 
progress monitored at Board and Committee 
level.

Our 2021-24 VFM Strategy outlined our 
intent against which progress is monitored at 
Board and Committee level. We also embed 
VFM within our other corporate strategies 
and in doing so we ensure VFM is considered 
and addressed in all strategic decisions. Key 
amongst which are our Asset and Development 
and Regeneration strategies which articulate 
our approach to delivering homes which meet a 
range of needs.

The financial management culture of the 
organisation is strong, and budgets and cost 
drivers are well understood. Detailed project and 
continuous improvement activity was ongoing 
throughout the year. Analysis undertaken during 
these projects has helped us better understand 
what is driving the efficiency and effectiveness 
of the processes and procedures which underly 
our performance – ensuring that VFM remains at 
the centre of our decision making on change and 
improvement activity. 

Procurement plans are updated on a rolling 
basis and gains identified and built into targets 
and plans. The Procurement Strategy was last 
updated in 2021/22 with the intention being to 
drive more value through enhanced category 
management. This is framed around our planned 
expenditure and contractual profile, and takes an 
outward look at best practice and expectations. 
This strategy will next be updated in Autumn 
2024, and will reflect the changing requirements 
arising from the Procurement Act and associated 
legislation.

Strategic report (continued)
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Our Performance - VFM objective 1 - Improving Operational 
Economy, Effectiveness and Efficiency

Corporate Plan - Livv Well, Livv Together, Livv People, Livv Local Actual  
22/23

Actual 
23/24

Target 
23/24

Regional 
Median

National 
Median Benchmark Source Target 

24/25
Target 
25/26

Target 
26/27

1a.Operating Margin Overall % *  (Group) 23.1 17.0 21.3 15.9 18.2 Global Accounts 24.4 25.1 25.5

1b.Operating Margin Overall % *  (Association) 22.7 17.7 21.1 16.2 18.8 Global Accounts 24.2 24.7 25.2

2.Operating Margin SHL % *   (Group and Association) 25.0 19.8 23.8 18.3 19.9 Global Accounts 29.3 30.3 30.4

3a.EBITDA MRI % *  (Group) 136.1 144.2 178.1 122.8 128.4 Global Accounts 154.9 160.2 216.1

3b.EBITDA MRI % *  (Association) 132.2 151.7 177.8 121.4 124.4 Global Accounts 155.1 158.8 215.3

4.Headline Social Housing CPU £’s * (Group and Association) 4,085 4,316 4,114 4,264 4,568 Global Accounts 4,517 4,745 4,440

5.Current Arrears % + 5.1 4.9 4.7 3.7 3.1 Regional - LCR 
National - Housemark 4.3 4.3 4.3

6.Customer Ease % + 88.8 90.2 87.0 N/A N/A N/A (c) 88.0 90.0 90.0

7.Complaints Resolved <10 days % + 75.0 75.8 85.0 N/A N/A N/A 87.5 90.0 90.0

8.Short Term Absence + 3.3 2.5 3.4 4.8 3.8 Regional - LCR 
National - Housemark 3.4 3.4 3.4

* Mandatory VFM Metrics - Benchmark data source - 2023 Global Accounts Annex – VFM Metrics, published by the Regulator of Social 
Housing. The Regional Median is based on an extract of North West providers, the National Median is all providers.

+ Our own VFM Measures and Metrics – Our own VFM Measures and Metrics – Benchmark data sources – a) LCR and Housemark b) CIPD and 
c) The benchmarks for Customer Ease that are available from Qualitrics data can utilise different weightings (across organisations and sectors) 
and so are not reported within this statement but are used for internal reporting. Customer Ease historically tracks c2% above Customer 
Satisfaction which has been benchmarked at 74.2% median regionally using the LCR peer group and 74.6% nationally using Housemark. 

Strategic report (continued)
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2023/24 has been a challenging year in Value 
for Money terms. There have been a number of 
competing resourcing priorities to consider, and 
a number of strategic choices have been made, 
which has meant that target outcomes were not 
achieved in all areas. At the end of the financial 
year 2023/24 performance was behind target 
on six out of eight key metrics, with Customer 
Ease and Short Term Absence being the two key 
areas where performance was better than target 
expectation.

The lower than target level of performance on 
the four financial metrics (Overall Margin, Social 
Housing Margin, EBITDA and Cost per Unit) was 
driven primarily by increased investment during 
the year in day to day and major responsive 
repairs. Increased volumes and complexity 
of repairs, and increased unit cost of delivery 
of repairs and empty homes clearance, were 
experienced throughout the year. 

A series of continuous improvement and 
measurable performance improvement initiatives 
have been implemented throughout 2023/24, 
with further interventions planned in 2024/25, 
with the aim of improving aspects of process 
efficiency and effectiveness, and enhancing the 
customer experience. The operating margin is 
targeted and forecast to improve through to the 
end of 2026/27, as the surplus from new homes 
completions adds to the surplus on the existing 
operations, and in comparative terms the one-off 
costs of demolitions undertaken in 2023/24 drop 
out and improve the forecast margin position in 
line with target.

Lower than target levels of performance on 
Current Arrears and Complaints Handling were 
also experienced in year. The arrears position 
deteriorated  marginally towards the end of 
the financial year, due in part to customers 
migrating to universal credit. A new case 
management and early intervention approach 
will be deployed in 2024/25 with the aim of 
bringing the forecast position back into line with 
target. The percentage of complaints resolved 
within 10 days has remained at a relatively 
consistent level year on year, however this 
was below target at year end. The process has 
been reviewed during 2023/24, and will be 
reconfigured and automated during 2024/25.

From an operational efficiency and effectiveness 
perspective, the main projects which contributed 
to the level of performance in 2023/24 were 
the Together Wherever and Accuserve projects, 
both of which concluded in the year. The 
benefits delivered by the programmes were 
principally aimed at improving the customer 
journey and colleague experience, linked to our 
Corporate Plan themes of ‘Customers’, ‘Homes’, 
and ‘People’.

The key project focus in 2024/25 will be Digital 
and Data, with the aim of automating and 
digitising additional aspects of customer service 
delivery, complaints handling, finance and 
recruitment processes. We will also automate 
our data quality diagnostics and further enhance 
our approach to data stewardship and data 
governance. 

Strategic report (continued)
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Our Performance - VFM Objective 2 - Increasing Development Supply and Capacity

Corporate Plan - Building More Homes, Livv Green Actual 
22/23

Actual 
23/24

Target 
23/24

Regional 
Median

National 
Median

Benchmark 
Source

Target 
24/25

Target 
25/26

Target 
26/27

9. New Supply (Social – Group and Association) %* 1.0 2.1 3.0 1.0 1.3 Global Accounts 4.3 1.6 2.3

10. New Supply (Non–Social – Group and Association) %* 0 0 0 0 0 Global Accounts 0 0 0

11. Gearing %* (Group and Association) 45.5 49 52.8 42.3 45.5 Global Accounts 48.2 47.9 45.0

12.Starts on Site 346 140 250 N/A N/A N/A 250 350 350

13.Completions 126 270 330 N/A N/A N/A 330 330 330

14.New homes available for Sale 35 53 40 N/A N/A N/A 40 40 40

*Mandatory VFM Metrics - Benchmark data source - 2023 Global Accounts Annex – 
VFM Metrics, published by the Regulator of Social Housing. The Regional Median is 
based on an extract of North West providers, the National Median is all providers. 

Strategic report (continued)
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The performance across the key development metrics was under target at year end. The legacy 
of the supply chain challenges, which were most acute during and in the year following the Covid 
pandemic, continued to affect reported performance on legacy development sites - although the 
level of completions has improved significantly on level achieved in 2022/23. 

The Development and Regeneration Strategy reflects our corporate plan target to deliver c330 
new homes each year. The strategy delivers a mix of supply which help meet the housing needs of 
Knowsley and surrounding boroughs. 

Starts on site have been programmed to meet our overarching three year corporate plan target, with 
the pipeline close to being fully formed to enable delivery through to the end of 2025/26. 

Over recent years, and looking forward, our target has been to absorb c95% of the marginal costs 
of managing new homes - and in doing so we have delivered real savings to date and aim to realise 
further savings throughout the duration of our development programme. Our financial strength 
and capacity enables us to deliver in this way and at volume, despite the challenging operating 
environment. 

Gearing, as calculated on a VFM basis, has traditionally been higher than peers due to the fair 
value adjustment on our private placement facility. Through our focus on treasury and liquidity 
management we have managed this position at a better than target level during 2023/24. 

Gearing on a covenant basis is lower. We have capacity to borrow and in 2024/25 we will focus 
on restructuring existing facilities and preserving our forward liquidity position to enable further 
development and regeneration activity in line with strategy. 

Strategic report (continued)
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Our Performance - VFM Objective 3 - Deliver Economic, 
Effective and Efficient Asset Management

Corporate Plan - Strategic Smart Safe, Livv Together, Livv Green Actual  
22/23

Actual 
23/24

Target 
23/24

Regional 
Median

National 
Median Benchmark Source Target 

24/25
Target 
25/26

Target 
26/27

15.ROCE %* (Group and Association) 6.4 4.5 6.0 3.1 2.8 Global Accounts 5.5 5.7 5.7

16.Reinvestment %* (Group and Association) 12.3 12.1 14.7 7.3 6.6 Global Accounts 15.7 12.2 4.3

17.Relet Time Days + 35.6 95.2 25.0 28.0 43.0 Regional – LCR 
National – Housemark 25.0 25.0 25.0

18.Net Zero Delivery %+ 98.0 100.0 100.0 N/A N/A N/A 100.0 100.0 100.0

19. Empty Homes Rent Loss £’s + 0.4m 0.9m 0.5m N/A N/A N/A 0.6m 0.6m 0.6m

20. Operating Margin - Livv Maintenance %+ 2.7 0.4 0.3 N/A N/A N/A 0.1 0.5 0.3

*Mandatory VFM Metrics - Benchmark data source - 2023 Global Accounts Annex – VFM Metrics, published by the Regulator of 
Social Housing. The Regional Median is based on an extract of North West providers, the National Median is all providers. 

+Our own VFM Measures and Metrics – Benchmark data sources  - we use a peer group from the Liverpool City Region where 
this provides the most appropriate localised comparator, with Housemark being used as a national date and benchmarking source.

Strategic report (continued)
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Strategic report (continued)

ROCE and Reinvestment performance ended the 
year below target, with ROCE due in the main to 
the above-mentioned operating performance and 
Reinvestment a consequence of the development 
programme position and the strategic decision to 
refocus resource from planned works to existing 
properties to operating activities. Performance 
in both areas does however remain better than 
sector medians. 

Re-let times have increased significantly and 
ended the year over target. This was as a 
result of the demands on internal and external 
resources in meeting the increased volumes of 
customer reported repairs, which were prioritised 
to meet customer expectations. This will be a 
key area of focus in the forthcoming year, with 
the current aim to address the backlog and bring 
performance back into line with target by the end 
of quarter three 2024/25. 

Investment in existing homes was identified in the 
Corporate Plan as a core area for improvement 
and the Group has developed a comprehensive 
Asset Strategy, with a detailed investment 
plan, driven by stock condition data, compliance 
test results, customer demographics and local 
housing need. 

We have continued our investment programme 
of improving the warmth of customers’ homes 
investing through the Government’s Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund programme. At 
year end in excess of 85% of properties were 
at EPC C or above, with the target of 100% 
by quarter three 2025, five years ahead of the 
government target for fuel poor homes. We have 
continued our programme of option appraisal 
of all properties with a negative 30-year Net 
Present Value (NPV) to identify how we can 
develop the financial or social returns from each 
property or to consider alternative uses and 
decommissioning. An example of our active 
asset management was at Gaywood Green, 
where demolition was completed during the final 
quarter of the financial year. 

Future Areas of Focus, Improvement and 
Investment
Our Value for Money Strategy and Policy will be 
reviewed and revised in 2024/25. 

The operating environment is likely to remain 
challenging throughout the strategy period, with 
increased levels of demands and expectations from 
customers and stakeholders. These will combine 
with economic and business factors to driving 
increases in a number of areas of the cost base. 

We will consider the future in light of this 
operational context, and will strive to deliver 
optimal Value for Money performance when 
delivering our corporate objectives. We will 
maintain a focus on improving efficiency and 
effectiveness, and controlling and where possible 
reducing cost. We will target benefit realisation 
in our projects, initiatives and investments – with 
optimal impact derived from our resources and 
assets. 

There will be a corporate focus on digitisation over 
forthcoming years, and the continuing emphasis 
on knowing our customers and understanding 
our assets will ensure that we continue to make 
well informed decisions and strategic choices. 
As detailed above we have measurable plans to 
improve performance in a number of key areas, 
e.g. complaints, repairs and empty homes, all of 
which are designed to ensure we deliver forecast 
performance in line with targets.

Conclusion
Having formulated this position statement and 
as a result of our self-assessment and oversight, 
Board believes that we are compliant with the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s VFM standard and 
are well positioned to deliver further VFM gains and 
reinvestments, and to deliver forecast performance 
which achieves our targets over the forthcoming 
years. 	  

Howard Roberts 
Executive Director – Finance, Risk & Performance
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Governance
Livv Housing Group Structure
Livv Housing Group 
The Group parent company and Registered Provider of social housing.

Livv Homes Limited
A wholly owned subsidiary of Livv Housing Group.

Livv Homes Limited has been non-trading in the year to 31 March 2024.

Livv Maintenance Limited
A wholly owned subsidiary of Livv Housing Group.

Livv Maintenance Limited provides a range of property repair and facilities 
management services to Livv Housing Group and selected external partners. 

First Ark Social Investment Limited (FASI) 
A wholly owned subsidiary of Livv Housing Group.

FASI is a special purpose vehicle established in 2016 to deliver a single 
social investment fund known as ‘Invest for Impact’ with funding provided 
from Big Society Capital and the Big Lottery Fund.

Strategic report (continued)
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The Group is managed by a Common Board of Directors, bringing a wealth of skills and experience 
to Board deliberations, from a variety of industry sectors, committed to the highest standards of 
conduct in carrying out their individual roles. All Board Members are signed up to our Code of 
Conduct, which is based on the National Housing Federation (NHF) Board Member Code of Conduct 
and sets out the obligations and expectations placed on them both individually and collectively. The 
Board adopted the NHF 2022 Code of Conduct with effect from 1 April 2023.

FASI is not part of the Common Board arrangements, as it is a special purpose vehicle to distribute 
Big Society Capital and the Big Lottery Fund funding, having specific governance requirements 
under its funding agreements. The FASI Board comprises two Executive Directors and one Non-
Executive Director from the Common Board as Chair. 

During the year, the Common Board delegated various matters to the following committees: 

The Board and Committees

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 
ARC is responsible to the parent Board for both 
internal and external audit issues, business 
assurance, risk management oversight and 
internal control systems. The Committee also 
receives the Group’s Annual Report & Financial 
Statements and recommends them to the Board 
for approval, monitors the Group’s long-term 
strategic financial health and supports the 
Board in overseeing regulatory, charitable and 
legal compliance issues. In accordance with 
governance best practice, its Terms of Reference 
were reviewed in 2023/24.

Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
oversees succession planning and recruitment 
for the Chief Executive and Executive Team, 
the Boards succession plan and Board Member 
recruitment, together with the remuneration of 
Non-Executive Board Members. The Committee 
oversees compliance with the Code of 
Governance. In accordance with governance best 
practice, its Terms of Reference were reviewed 
in 2023/24.

Strategic report (continued)
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Customer Services Committee
The Customer Services Committee monitors the ongoing quality of services provided to customers 
through the review of operational performance, customer feedback, complaints and customer 
service standards. It considers statutory compliance, regulatory compliance and risk management 
for delivery of the customer services, making recommendations to the Group Board where 
improvement is required.

In accordance with governance best practice, its Terms of Reference were reviewed in 2023/24. 
The review factored the requirements of the new Consumer Standards, the Housing Ombudsman’s 
Complaint Handling Code and the feedback from the external Board effectiveness review. To ensure 
that the Customer voice is at the heart of decision making, the Board agreed that an Independent 
Member with Lived experience should be added to the Committee membership in 2024/25. 

Business Growth, Development and Investment Committee
The Business Growth, Development and Investment Committee scrutinises and recommends to the 
Board, business development, growth and investment opportunities. It reviews the business cases 
for proposed projects and programmes including the review of risks and returns associated with 
the proposal. The Committee reviews all new housing development proposals. It has delegated 
authority to approve schemes up to the value of £5M and makes recommendations to the Board 
on schemes over £5M. In accordance with governance best practice, its Terms of Reference were 
reviewed in 2023/24.

Quality Improvement Panel (QuIP) (formerly Customer Assurance Panel (CAP))
The Quality and Improvement Panel, (QuIP), provides an assurance, co-regulatory, scrutiny and 
service improvement oversight role that is customer led and representative of our communities. The 
QuIP has a strong relationship with Board and presents it findings either directly or as delegated to 
one of the Committees. Membership reflects the demography and geography of our customer base 
and the terms of office mirror that of the Board Members. The knowledge and skills of the QuIP’s 
membership are reviewed and varied training is provided to build capability.

Strategic report (continued)
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Our Board Members bring a wealth of skills and experience, from a variety of industry sectors to 
Board deliberations and are committed to the highest standards of conduct in carrying out their 
individual roles. All Board Members have signed up to our Code of Conduct, which is based on the 
NHF Board Member Code of Conduct and sets out the obligations and expectations placed on them 
both individually and collectively. This is further reflected in their Agreement for Services and forms 
part of the annual Board Member appraisal process. 

The Board and its Committees have scheduled meetings for regular business items and an annual 
All Board Away Day to discuss strategy and direction of travel. Board Members also attend regular 
workshops and development sessions and keep training and development logs that form part of the 
appraisal process. 

The Board may convene between meetings if urgent decisions are necessary. Our rules allow 
attendance by telephone, or video conference, or decision-making via written resolutions, which 
assists effective governance. Where necessary we hold virtual meetings to facilitate the timely 
consideration of individual matters between scheduled meetings.

Board Member Attendance
From the 1 April 2023 until the 31 March 2024  the Common Board of Livv Housing Group, Livv 
Maintenance Limited and Livv Homes Limited, the following Executive and Non–Executive Directors 
have served on the Common Board, with their attendance during the year being as follows:

Director Common Board 
(including Livv Housing Group, Livv 
Maintenance Ltd and Livv Homes Ltd)

Philip Raw 100%

Steve Agger 50%

Anthony Deakin 100%

Phil Pemberton 84%

John Ray 67%

Nicola Waterworth 100%

Leann Hearne 100%

Eleanor Bowden 67%*

Christopher Howard Roberts 100%

Ann Gibbons 100%

Caris Henry 67%

Vinod Pachu 100%

*Absent from July Board meeting due to parental leave.
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Governance Compliance
The Group has adopted the NHF Code of Governance 2020 (the Code), both for Livv Housing 
Group as the regulated entity and for the other legal entities within the Group. The Board reviews 
compliance with the principles of the Code via a detailed report on an annual basis. The Board also 
receives an annual review of each of its Committees and their performance, against their delegated 
Terms of Reference, to further ensure the Group is meeting its compliance requirements.

The annual reports of each Committee were received by the Board in July 2024 and the annual 
report on compliance with the Code for 2023/24 was received at the July 2024 Board meeting. The 
Board has subsequently confirmed that the Group was fully compliant with the Code for the year. 

Regulatory Compliance
Self-assessment of compliance with the Regulatory standards, including the Governance & Financial 
Viability standard, was undertaken and approved by the Board in July 2024. On the basis of that 
assessment the Board certifies that it considers the association to be fully compliant with the 
requirements of the standards.

Strategic report (continued)
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Risk Management Framework 
We are proactive in how we manage risk so that we can understand what might affect us, how and 
to what extent, before it does. We regularly refresh and update our identified risk exposures and 
continually review and enhance our control and assurance activity. We recognise that there will be 
events that we need to react to, by being proactive we reduce the effect of these events and are 
equipped to deal with them efficiently and effectively.

Our group-wide risk management and assurance framework makes sure we effectively identify, 
assess, manage and monitor strategic and operational risk. It aligns to governance, compliance and 
regulatory expectations.

Risk and assurance reporting forms a core part of the group’s governance activity and informs 
strategic planning, decision-making and clarity of direction.

The Board regularly review the amount of risk the group is willing and able to take through 
considering risk appetite and tolerance measures in the context of our risk exposure and operating 
environment. We also assess the speed a risk could affect us should it escalate, this informs the 
type of control, resilience and assurance arrangements we have in place.

Measuring risk exposure
The Board, Audit and Risk Committee, Executive and Management frequently review risk exposure, 
controls and assurance activity along with how this aligns to defined risk appetite and tolerance 
measures. The Board approve and monitor actions where risks may require closer alignment to risk 
appetite.

We proactively identify and undertake action in response to risks emerging in our operating 
environment. We consider the potential for future risks to increase current risk exposure and any 
control enhancement or assurance measures that may be required. The Board with support from the 
Audit and Risk Committee, approve and monitor actions planned to strengthen controls and further 
mitigate emerging risk issues.

Strategic and subsidiary risk registers reflecting group-wide risk exposures are maintained and 
frequently reported through our governance arrangements. Strategic, subsidiary and operational 
risk registers support a continuous risk management process.

Strategic report (continued)
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Principal risks and uncertainties
Strategic risk Outline Mitigation and assurance

Development delivery

Fail to deliver sufficient 
planned new supply 
in accordance with 
development strategy 
targets and parameters.

We have an affordable 
housing programme providing 
a range of housing options 
relevant to community need.

The construction market 
remains volatile, challenges 
have included the ongoing 
viability of providers through a 
challenging economic climate 
and continuing impact of 
inflation on costs.

Development strategy including 
defined targets.

Delivery controls including 
quality, compliance and financial 
management.

Governance scrutiny of pipeline, 
financial viability, scheme 
management and other related 
targets.

Stress testing and counter party 
risk mitigation measures reflecting 
construction market challenges 
aligned to risk appetite.

Reputation management

Fail to plan, prepare 
and respond effectively 
to sector challenges 
including Government, 
Regulator and Housing 
Ombudsman expectations 
and external reports of 
concern or service failure 
from customers, partners 
and stakeholders.

There can be significant 
implications where providers 
are unable to respond 
effectively and efficiently to 
instances of service failure. 

This includes in the quality 
of property and services 
informed by a wide range 
of stakeholders including 
customers, Government, 
Housing Ombudsman, media/
social media and activists. 

We have seen an elevated 
level of contact from 
customers and partners 
through direct contact and 
social media reviews.

Feedback from our customers and 
stakeholders. 

Plans in place and are prepared 
to respond and react to instances 
of service failure to minimise the 
potential impact. 

We learn lessons to inform continuous 
improvement at both individual 
instance and thematic levels.

Proactive relationships with 
stakeholders assist us in 
understanding our customers and 
service expectations. We proactively 
build relationships with stakeholders 
and confidence in our reputation.

Strategic report (continued)
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Strategic report (continued)

Strategic risk Outline Mitigation and assurance

Financing and viability 
adequacy

Fail to maintain financial 
viability and/or adequately 
allocate sufficient 
resources to support 
delivery of our wider 
corporate plan objectives. 
This could include 
generating insufficient 
levels of surplus or having 
insufficient access to 
adequate levels of funding 
and liquidity which result 
in an inability to achieve 
financial performance in 
line with Golden Rules, 
non-adherence to Loan 
Covenant requirements, 
and/or an inability to 
adequately resource 
the key service and 
investment requirements 
of the Group.

Sound financial management 
allows for the timely and 
efficient achievement of 
corporate objectives, including 
medium and long-term 
financial viability, maintaining 
adequate liquidity, the ability 
to achieve loan covenants 
and responding to economic 
environment factors.

There have been a range of 
challenges from the economic 
environment including factors 
influencing income, supply 
and funding costs.

Defined and monitored financial 
regulations and golden rules. Financial 
planning and embedded controls 
to support the integrity of financial 
information and reporting.

Stress testing of the business plan 
that informs the resilience planning 
framework including mitigation and 
recovery planning should an event/
series of events impact our key 
assumptions.

Counterparty failure

Failure of a third party or 
multiple counter party 
failure which significantly 
restricts our ability to 
maintain service delivery 
standards and achieve 
one or more strategic 
priorities.

The Group has arrangements 
in place with a range of third 
parties that support the 
delivery of its activities and 
services.

We consider risk, value, type and 
reliance on contract deliverables 
to maintain services and deliver 
objectives. These factors define the 
contract grading so that contract 
management controls are relevant to 
the nature of the contract.

The Group maintains responsibility 
for managing risk related to activity 
delivered third parties. Compliance 
responsibilities are formally defined 
in any agreement with a third party, 
particularly where there is access to 
personal data.
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Strategic report (continued)

Strategic risk Outline Mitigation and assurance

Service to customers

Fail to deliver services 
that align with customer 
needs and expectations, 
societal expectations 
and Regulatory Standard 
obligations.

Defining and enabling the 
delivery of inclusive services 
aligned to customer service 
needs and expectations 
including consideration to 
community cohesion factors 
is central to the Group’s 
activities.

This is framed in the context 
of the Social Housing 
(Regulation) Act and related 
new consumer regulation and 
broader Housing Ombudsman 
role.

A range of strategies and frameworks 
are embedded supporting the delivery 
of objectives including the Customer 
Engagement Strategy, Community 
Investment Strategy, Asset 
Management Strategy, Investment 
Plan and Compliance Framework.

Cyber security attack

Fail to maintain system 
security to protect against 
current threats, avoid 
an attack and be able 
identify and/or manage an 
incident.

Widespread cybercrime 
and cyber insecurity are 
recognised global threats.

These threats are widespread 
and ever developing meaning 
there needs to be consistent 
and intensive resourcing, 
control and threat monitoring 
and management in place to 
manage these risks effectively. 

Maintaining data security 
and protecting access to data 
remains a key focus.

Diligent maintenance and testing 
of systems along with developing 
our arrangements and controls as 
threats emerge. This includes controls 
to protect our systems, data, IT 
availability and capacity.

Policy arrangements define 
comprehensive vulnerability 
management and monitoring 
procedures, processes and tools. 

Cyber-attack response readiness to 
mitigate the potential impact and 
extent of an attack remains a key 
focus.
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Strategic report (continued)

Strategic risk Outline Mitigation and assurance

Stock quality and 
sustainability

Fail to maximise financial, 
social and environmental 
return on investment 
in maintaining building 
safety, meeting the home 
standard and achieving 
net zero targets and 
commitments, aligned to 
Government expectations.

Accurate profiling and 
understanding stock condition 
informs us in delivering 
effective compliance, repairs 
and investment activity.

We need to continue to 
proactively manage our 
homes to avoid deterioration 
in our assets, making sure that 
stock condition and quality 
do not decline over time. This 
includes priorities around 
building safety, quality and 
net zero.

The Asset Strategy, Net Zero Carbon 
Strategy and related investment 
plans are driven by evidence including 
survey data.

Asset management systems are 
structured to support the maintenance 
of comprehensive and reliable stock 
information with quality review for 
data integrity.

We horizon scan for stock condition 
issues that may be hazardous 
to customer health. A culture of 
awareness, comprehensive surveying 
and empowering colleagues to report 
concerns is supported by a systemised 
approach.

Legal and regulatory 
compliance

Fail to maintain 
strategic performance in 
alignment with relevant 
law, regulation and 
organisational obligations 
including maintaining 
relevant strategic 
stakeholder relationships

There are a range of statutory, 
legislative and reporting 
obligations the Group must 
comply with. These also 
include maintaining relevant 
stakeholder relationships.

The statutory reporting framework 
and related review of reporting for 
the comprehensive identification of 
all relevant laws and regulations, 
along with the timely and accurate 
reporting of how the Group achieves 
its obligations.

Regular horizon scanning and 
related control enhancement activity 
for updates to obligations and 
expectations.

Statutory health and 
safety compliance

Fail to maintain statutory 
compliance and health 
and safety legislation 
obligations.

We have a responsibility to 
maintain compliance with 
statutory health and safety 
requirements, not risking 
the safety of our customers, 
colleagues, stakeholders and 
the public at large.

This includes in servicing 
and maintaining our current 
stock, developing new homes, 
providing services and 
working arrangements and 
activities.

Compliance Framework and 
associated systems across all areas of 
compliance responsibility. 

Detailed delivery and performance 
targets are aligned to statutory 
requirements and where relevant 
other measures, informed by 
performance dashboards and scrutiny 
across the group’s governance 
structure.

Quality review and validation 
arrangements support the integrity 
of data and provide assurance on the 
reliability of systems and data.
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Strategic report (continued)

Philip Raw Anthony Deakin David Shaw

Chair of the Board Chair - Audit & Risk Committee Company Secretary

By order of the Board.

25 July 2024

Our resilience framework
We consider scenarios where our financial viability could be undermined so we are informed and 
prepared to mitigate threats to our resilience. Our framework is a toolkit to inform current and future 
organisational resilience (as per fin risk control activity - see financial risk above).

We use the framework to inform planning expectations, test scenarios and inform control 
arrangements including maintaining mitigation, contingency, response and recovery plans.

Through horizon scanning of the future external risk landscape, in addition to the financing and 
viability adequacy risk highlighted above, potential areas for future resilience include:

Strategic resilience context Related 
strategic risk

Mitigation and assurance

Cyber-attack

There is potential for an attack cause 
widespread impact on service delivery 
and achieving objectives in the medium 
term if recovery arrangements do not 
support an effective return to business as 
usual in the event of an attack. 

There are also potentially significant 
financial impacts that could be incurred 
through lost productivity, fines and 
recovery costs.

Cyber security 
attack

Cyber security is a rapidly changing 
threat environment requiring regular 
review of controls and mitigations to 
remain relevant to current and future 
threat landscapes.

To maintain resilience we continue to 
scan for new and increasing threats, 
review information on recent attacks 
and intelligence share with partners to 
inform control enhancement activity.

Extreme weather

Climate change leading to extreme 
weather events has the potential to 
impact service delivery through property 
damage, supply chain interruption or 
colleague productivity.

A key factor in maintaining medium and 
long term resilience will be sustainable 
properties that can withstand climate 
related hazards.

Stock 
condition and 
stock profile 
erosion

We have been analysing asset portfolio 
data to consider medium and long-term 
natural and climate hazards of concern. 
This includes collating urban heat 
island data to build a data set which 
can then be aligned with wider asset, 
financial and customer persona data. 

We will utilise the data to analyse 
asset investment and stock resilience 
planning. 
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Board report
The Board presents its report and the Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2024.

Principal Activities, 
Business Review and Future 
Developments
Details of the Group’s principal activities, its 
performance during the year and factors likely 
to affect its future development are contained 
within the Strategic Report which precedes this 
report.

Board Members, Chief 
Executive and Executive 
Directors
The current Board members and Executive 
Directors, and those who served during the year, 
are set out on pages 4-5.  The Board members 
are drawn from a wide background bringing 
a range of professional, commercial and local 
experience.

The Group has insurance policies in place that 
indemnify its Board members and Executive 
Directors against liability when acting on behalf 
the Group.

Remuneration Policy
A Remuneration and Nomination Committee is 
responsible for recommending, to the Board, the 
Group’s pay policy and terms and conditions of 
employment for the Chief Executive.  In addition, 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
is responsible for setting the remuneration 
of Executive Directors and their terms and 
conditions.

Pensions
All Group employees, including the Chief 
Executive and the Executive Directors, are 
eligible to join a defined contribution scheme 
which the Group contributes towards on behalf 
of its employees.

 

Employees
The strength of the Group lies in the quality 
and commitment of its colleagues. The Group 
recognises the importance and contribution of 
the colleagues to the ongoing success of the 
business.  We will recruit the best colleagues, 
board members and volunteers to reflect the 
profile of the communities where we work and 
will invest in their wellbeing and development 
through training and initiatives to promote 
healthy minds and bodies.

The Group is committed to equality of treatment 
and opportunity for all of its colleagues: 
we embrace and value diversity and we are 
committed to having a diverse workforce that 
reflects the communities within which we work.

The business consults with its colleagues on 
matters affecting the workforce through two 
representative Groups:

•	the Joint Consultative Committee, which 
includes representation of recognised Trade 
Unions; and

•	the Employee Forum which was created to 
support colleagues by giving everyone a voice 
and comprises representatives from each part 
of the Group. 

Health & Safety
The Board is aware of its responsibilities on all 
matters relating to health and safety. The group 
has prepared detailed health and safety policies, 
has a robust safety management system in 
place, and provides training and education to 
all of its staff on health and safety matters 
appropriate to their role.
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Board report (continued)

Corporate Social Responsibility
We generate social value, using our resources 
wisely to achieve lasting, beneficial change 
and be an attractive organisation to work for 
and with. This means really knowing and 
understanding both customers and communities 
and directing our investment to the areas and 
groups that need it most.

Delivering Positive Social Impact by Investing 
in Communities sits at the heart of the 
Group’s purpose and is a key theme in the 
Corporate Plan.  Livv stands for an unwavering 
commitment to serving local communities; 
here for the long term to help people live 
happy, successful and fulfilled lives in diverse, 
welcoming places where they want to stay. The 
Group’s mission is to provide opportunities for 
everyone – young or old, family, couple or single 
person. 

Investing in communities and the people 
who live them connects people to place and 
recognises that Livv is more than just a great 
landlord. It builds on and contributes to long-
term financial strength and capacity and 
demonstrates commitment to customers. The 
Group looks to make a difference every day and 
do this by investing in people and communities 
and by working alongside partners to create 
great outcomes that enable people to thrive. The 
Group’s objective is to create a fairer society by 
building capacity and resilience and supporting 
the people who live in the places where Livv 
operates to improve their prospects and be the 
best version of themselves. 

The Group’s Community Investment Strategy 
outlines how it works with customers, 
communities and partners to identify, develop 
and deliver programmes of support. It describes 
delivery of commissioned social impact 
programmes and aligns them with day to day 
engagement with customers and communities. 
The Group also set out an ambition to invest 
in social businesses to grow capacity that is 
aligned to core purpose and the priorities that 
need to be addressed in communities. This 

integration of all activities, focused on creating 
social value, will ensure Livv is responding to 
the issues and opportunities as they emerge.

The Group reports on its social impact annually 
through its Social Accounts.

Customer Complaints
Livv Housing Group is committed to providing 
excellent services to customers with the aim 
to get things right first time; however also 
understanding that sometimes this may not 
happen. When the Group fails to do what it said 
it will, or where a service delivered has not met 
service standards Livv wants its customers to 
be able to tell us easily and without delay.  The 
Group aims to resolve any dissatisfaction quickly 
and fairly, taking into account the impact of that 
service failure. 

The Group’s complaints policy sets out the 
approach to receiving, investigating and 
responding to complaints. The policy reflects all 
current legislative and regulatory requirements 
and is reviewed and amended as these change.

The Group are committed to learning from 
customer feedback including complaints 
and use this information to identify service 
improvements.  Livv involves colleagues from 
across the business in investigating complaints 
and ensuring that the learning is factored into 
real service improvements that will ensure the 
same mistakes are not repeated.

Donations
£827k gift aid was received in the year (2023: 
£468k) by Livv Housing Group from Livv 
Maintenance Limited, £825k (2023: £468k), and 
Livv Homes, £2k (2023: £nil).

Livv Housing Group and its subsidiaries did not 
make any political donations.  

Payment of Creditors
Our policy is to pay undisputed purchase 
invoices within 30 days of the invoice date or 
earlier if agreed with the supplier.
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Group Internal Control 
Statement
The Board has overall responsibility for the 
system of internal control and risk management 
across Livv Housing Group and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. This includes ensuring that 
the Group adheres to the Regulator of Social 
Housing Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard and its associated Code of Practice. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
reporting to the Board on the adequacy of risk 
management arrangements and effectiveness of 
the internal control system through its oversight 
and scrutiny of the Risk Management and 
Assurance Framework which includes internal 
and external audit arrangements and outputs 
from other assurance activity.

The system of internal control is designed to 
manage risk and provide reasonable assurance 
that:

•	Objectives are achieved

•	Assets, including social housing assets are 
safeguarded

•	Proper accounting records are maintained

•	Financial information used in the business or 
for publication is reliable

•	Performance information used in the business 
or for publication is reliable.

Key features of the Group’s internal control 
environment include:

•	Risk Management and Assurance Framework 
defines the Board’s strategy, policy and 
approach to identifying, assessing and 
managing risks to the Group. The Risk 
Management and Assurance Policy defines 
the Board’s risk appetite and tolerance 
measures 
 

•	An established governance and management 
structure, with clearly defined levels of 
responsibility, scrutiny and approval including 
clear lines of delegated authority

•	Financial Regulations provide a framework 
of control and delegation over the Group’s 
financial resources and guidance on how 
those resources must be managed to support 
the achievement of the Group’s corporate plan 
objectives. In addition, the Regulations are 
designed to support the Group in meeting its 
legal and regulatory requirements relating 
to financial and viability matters, together 
with the safeguarding of Group assets, and 
management of financial risk

•	A programme of stress testing for Group and 
entity level financial plans aligned to key 
strategic risk exposures in the internal and 
external environment

•	A Policy and Strategy Framework which 
defines expectations for the development, 
review and approval of policy and strategy to 
meet the needs of the business, colleagues 
and customers, as well as regulatory and 
legislative requirements.

Key features of the Group’s control assurance 
arrangements include: 

•	Corporate Performance Framework which 
defines key performance measures, owners 
and reporting frequencies relevant to the 
Group’s activities

•	Golden Rules that define Board expectations 
of financial performance with early warning 
triggers which alert to the potential for 
financial risk escalation

•	Resilience Planning Framework which 
supports proactive understanding and 
review of the Groups resilience and informs 
the maintenance of mitigation, contingency, 
response and recovery plans 
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•	Policy Watch scanning for changes to 
legislation, regulation and good practice that 
informs planning

•	Specialist advice and quality assurance 
to inform control and assurance activity 
including areas such as legal, financial 
planning, compliance and cyber security

•	Internal audit assurance, through a 
programme of regular independent reviews of 
the effectiveness and application of internal 
controls across the Group’s activities

•	Annual certification process considering 
the effectiveness of the Group’s systems 
of internal control and management of risk 
across all its activities throughout the year. 
The certification also requires consideration 
to incidents of non-compliance, fraud 
and breaches, regulatory and legislative 
compliance, recommendation completion 
(i.e. internal audit, external audit, regulators, 
inspectorates) and declarations of interest. 
There were no significant issues identified in 
the year

•	Annual review of compliance against the 
Groups adopted code of governance and 
the Regulator of Social Housing regulatory 
framework.

Internal Audit
The system of internal control is subject to a 
regular programme of independent review. 
PwC LLP (PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited 
Liability Partnership), the internal auditors to the 
Group, provided a programme of reviews for the 
year 2023/24. The Audit and Risk Committee 
approved this programme and kept it under 
regular review throughout the year.

The Audit and Risk Committee has been 
presented with regular reporting of the outputs 
from internal audit reviews throughout the year, 
along with monitoring of the achievement of 
any recommendations made, in line with agreed 
timetables.

 

External Audit
The Group is committed to sound financial 
management in all aspects of its business and 
has robust business planning and budgeting 
frameworks in place. Financial and performance 
management reporting is provided to the 
Board to enable scrutiny of the achievement of 
objectives.

The External Auditors to the Group BDO LLP 
(Limited Liability Partnership), liaise with the 
Audit and Risk Committee on the nature and 
scope of the planned audit programme and 
provide feedback to the Committee on the 
operation of financial internal controls, reviewed 
as part of their annual audit activity, through 
their management letter.

Fraud
The Board has a Financial Crime Policy in place 
that includes fraud prevention and detection. A 
Fraud Register is maintained throughout the year 
and reported to the Audit and Risk Committee on 
a regular basis.

The Board has a responsibility to ensure material 
fraud is reported to the Regulator of Social 
Housing immediately. There have been no cases 
of fraud reportable within the year.

The Board also has a Whistleblowing Policy in 
place that promotes openness, accountability 
and transparency by enabling serious concerns 
to be raised and investigated in a robust manner. 
A Whistleblowing Register is maintained 
throughout the year and reported to the Audit 
and Risk Committee on a regular basis

Conclusion
The Board acknowledges that its responsibility 
applies to the full range of risks and controls 
across all Group activities. The Board has 
considered the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control in place for the year ended 31 
March 2024 and concludes that governance, risk 
management and internal control arrangements 
are operating effectively.

Board report (continued)
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Going Concern
The recent economic turbulence, with higher interest rates and cost inflation and increased uncertainty 
in the supply chain, has meant that the Executive Team and Board have been reviewing our financial 
forecasts and undertaking scenario planning more frequently. 

Our scenario planning has reflected updated economic assumptions and included significant 
reductions in rent collected, more extreme inflation on costs, reductions in rent inflation assumptions, 
and significant cash requirements relating to failing development contractors and other supply side 
challenges, as well as changes to market conditions such as sales programmes. 

This additional scrutiny has delivered some excellent insight for the organisation and has stress 
tested our financial resilience and given great assurance with respect to our viability and our ability to 
withstand a range of material single and multi-variant negative financial impacts. All of which provide 
assurance and confidence that the Group will remain a viable going concern even in the most adverse 
or extreme circumstances.

On this basis the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least twelve months 
after the date on which the financial statements are signed. Therefore, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in the financial statements.

Statement of the responsibilities of the Board for the report and 
financial statements
The board members are responsible for preparing the report of the board and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society law and social housing legislation require the board 
members to prepare financial statements for each financial year in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  

In preparing these financial statements, the board members are required to:

•	select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•	make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•	state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting by registered social housing providers 2018 have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the group and association will continue in business.

Board report (continued)
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Philip Raw Anthony Deakin David Shaw

Chair of the Board Chair Audit & Risk Committee Company Secretary

The board members are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the group and association’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the group and association and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing 2022.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and association 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The board is responsible for ensuring that the report of the board is prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting by registered social housing providers 2018.

Financial statements are published on the [group and] association’s website in accordance with 
legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions.  The maintenance and integrity 
of the [group and] association’s website is the responsibility of the board members.  The board 
members’ responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained 
therein.

Board members’ statement as to the Disclosure of  
Information to Auditors
In so far as each of the Board members is aware:

•	there is no relevant audit information of which the Association’s auditors are unaware; and

•	the Board has taken all steps that it ought to have taken to make itself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.   

The Report of the Board was approved by the Board on 25 July 2024, and signed on its behalf by:

Board report (continued)
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Independent Auditor’s 
Report to the Members 
of Livv Housing Group
Opinion on the financial 
statements
In our opinion, the financial statements:

•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the 
Group’s and of the Association’s affairs as at 
31 March 2024 and of the Group’s and the 
Association’s surplus for the year then ended;

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies (Group 
Accounts) Regulations 1969, the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2022.

We have audited the financial statements of 
Livv Housing Group (“the Association”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 
March 2024 which comprise the consolidated 
and Association statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated and Association 
statement of financial position, the consolidated 
and Association statement of changes in 
reserves, the consolidated cash flow statement 
and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102. The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remain independent of the Group and 
Association in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in the UK, including the 
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going 
concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the board members’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s and of the Association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of 
the board with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The board are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required 
to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where we are required by the 
Co-operative or Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 the Society has not kept proper books of 
account; 

•	 the Society has not maintained a satisfactory 
system of control over its transactions; 

•	 the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the Society’s books of account; or

•	 we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board
As explained more fully in the statement of 
the responsibilities of the Board, the board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view, and for such internal control 
as the board members determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the board 
are responsible for assessing the Group and 
the Association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the board 
either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
Association or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Livv Housing Group (continued)
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Extent to which the audit was capable of 
detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to 
which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Non-compliance with laws and regulations

Based on our understanding of the Group and 
the industry in which it operates; discussion 
with management and those charged with 
governance and obtaining and understanding of 
the Group’s policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with laws and regulations; we 
identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related 
to the reporting framework, FRS 102, the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014, the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and 
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2022. We 
considered the extent to which non-compliance 
might have a direct impact and material effect 
on the Group’s Financial Statements or their 
continued operation.

The Group is also subject to laws and 
regulations where the consequence of non-
compliance could have a material effect on 
the amount or disclosures in the financial 
statements, for example through the imposition 
of fines or litigations. We identified such laws 
and regulations to be the health and safety 
legislation, employment legislation, building and 
safety legislation, tenancy legislation and data 
protection legislation.

Our procedures in respect of the above included:

•	Review of minutes of meeting of those 
charged with governance for any instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations;

•	Review of financial statement disclosures and 
agreeing to supporting documentation;

•	Review of legal expenditure accounts 
to understand the nature of expenditure 
incurred.

Fraud

We assessed the susceptibility of the financial 
statements to material misstatement, including 
fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

•	Enquiry with management, internal audit and 
those charged with governance regarding any 
known or suspected instances of fraud;

•	Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s 
policies and procedures relating to:

•	Detecting and responding to the risks of 
fraud; and 

•	Internal controls established to mitigate 
risks related to fraud. 

•	Review of minutes of meeting of those 
charged with governance for any known or 
suspected instances of fraud;

•	Discussion amongst the engagement team 
as to how and where fraud might occur in the 
financial statements;

•	Performing analytical procedures to identify 
any unusual or unexpected relationships that 
may indicate risks of material misstatement 
due to fraud.
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Based on our risk assessment, we considered 
the areas most susceptible to fraud to be 
inappropriate journal entries to manipulate 
financial results, management bias in accounting 
estimates and property sales income recognition 
around the year end.

Our procedures in respect of the above included:

•	Testing a sample of journal entries throughout 
the year, which met a defined risk criteria, by 
agreeing to supporting documentation;

•	Challenging assumptions made by 
management in their significant accounting 
estimates in particular in relation to the 
following: whether there are indicators of 
impairment of tangible assets, the useful 
economic lives of tangible fixed assets, 
recoverability of receivable balances 
outstanding at the year end and the fair value 
of financial instruments. 

•	Testing sample of shared home ownership 
income throughout the final month of the 
year and the first month of the following 
year, to supporting documentation for income 
recognition.

We also communicated relevant identified laws 
and regulations and potential fraud risks to all 
engagement team members and remained alert 
to any indications of fraud or non-compliance 
with laws and regulations throughout the audit. 

Our audit procedures were designed to respond 
to risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements, recognising that the risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement due to 
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, 
misrepresentations or through collusion. There 
are inherent limitations in the audit procedures 
performed and the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from 
the events and transactions reflected in the 
financial statements, the less likely we are to 
become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of 
the Association, as a body, in accordance with in 
accordance with the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014.  Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Association’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Association and the members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

 

 
 
BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Manchester, UK

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales (with 
registered number OC305127).
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Statement of 
comprehensive income
For year ended 31 March 2024

Notes Group Association

31 March 
2024 
£’000

31 March 
2023 
£’000

31 March 
2024 
£’000

31 March 
2023 
£’000

Turnover 3 74,010 67,757 75,190 68,505 

Cost of Sales 3 (4,987) (3,423) (4,987) (3,423) 

Operating expenditure 3 (56,463) (48,665) (56,931) (49,532) 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
(fixed assets)

9 1,851 5,202 1,851 5,202 

Operating surplus 14,411 20,871 15,123 20,752 

Interest receivable 10 672 366 620 351 

Interest and financing costs 11 (8,653) (8,045) (8,653) (8,045) 

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 27 (300) 14,325 (300) 14,325 

Surplus before tax 6,130 27,517 6,790 27,383  

Taxation 12 (11) 91 0 (8)

Surplus for the year after tax 6,119 27,608 6,790 27,375 

Re-measurement in respect of pension scheme 28 16 175 16 175

Total comprehensive income for the year 6,135 27,783 6,806 27,550 

All activities relate to continuing operations.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 25 July 2024 and 
were signed on its behalf by:

Philip Raw Anthony Deakin David Shaw

Chair of the Board Chair Audit & Risk Committee Company Secretary

The notes on pages 49 to 88 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2024

Notes Group Association

31 March 
2024 
£’000

31 March 
2023 
£’000

31 March 
2024 
£’000

31 March 
2023 
£’000

Fixed Assets

Tangible Fixed Assets

    Housing properties 13 318,566 289,620 318,874 289,913

    Other property, plant & equipment 14 2,138 2,535 2,138 2,535

Social Investments 16 3 28 3 28

320,707 292,183 321,015 292,476

Current assets

Stock 17 138 102 - -

Properties held for sale 18 6,888 4,608 6,888 4,608

Trade and other debtors 19 6,246 7,248 6,077 7,094

Investments 20 514 870 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 21 11,805 35,742 9,908 34,122

25,591 48,570 22,873 45,824

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 22 (9,755) (13,486) (9,258) (14,011)

Net current assets 15,836 35,084 13,615 31,813

Total assets less current liabilities 336,543 327,267 334,630 324,289



45  Livv Housing Group Annual report and financial statement 2023/24  

Statement of financial position (continued)

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 25 July 2024 and 
were signed on its behalf by:

Philip Raw Anthony Deakin David Shaw

Chair of the Board Chair Audit & Risk Committee Company Secretary

Livv Housing Group, a charitable registered society under the Cooperative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, registered number 007773.

The notes on pages 49 to 88 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Notes Group Association

31 March 
2024 
£’000

31 March 
2023 
£’000

31 March 
2024 
£’000

31 March 
2023 
£’000

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 
one year

23 224,075 220,873 223,668 220,072

Provisions for liabilities

Pension provision 28 1,824 1,885 1,824 1,885

225,899 222,758 225,492 221,957

Reserves

Revenue reserve 110,644 104,509 109,138 102,332

Restricted reserves - - - -

Total reserves 110,644 104,509 109,138 102,332

336,543 327,267 334,630 324,289

As at 31 March 2024
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Group Association

Non-
Equity 
share 

capital 
£'000

Revenue 
Reserves 

 
 

£'000

Restricted 
Reserves 

 
 

£'000

Total 
 
 
 

£'000

Non-
Equity 
share 

capital 
£'000

Revenue 
Reserves 

 
 

£'000

Restricted 
Reserves 

 
 

£'000

Total 
 
 
 

£'000

Balance as at 31 
March 2023

- 104,509 - 104,509 - 102,332 - 102,332

Surplus for the year - 6,119 - 6,119  - 6,790 - 6,790

Other 
Comprehensive 
Income: 

Re-measurement in 
respect of pension 
scheme (note 28)

- 16 - 16 - 16 - 16

Transfer between 
reserves

- - - - - - - -

Balance at 31 
March 2024

- 110,644 - 110,644 - 109,138 - 109,138

Balance as at 31 
March 2022

- 76,654 72 76,726 - 74,710 72 74,782 

Surplus for the year - 27,608 - 27,608  - 27,375 - 27,375

Other 
Comprehensive 
(loss):

Re-measurement in 
respect of pension 
scheme (note 28)

- 175 - 175 - 175 - 175

Transfer between 
reserves

- 72 (72) - - 72 (72) - 

Balance at 31 March 
2023

- 104,509 - 104,509 - 102,332 - 102,332 

For year ended 31 March 2024

The notes on pages 49 to 88 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Statement of Changes in Reserves
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2024 2023

Group £’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities (Note A) 14,039 24,370

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of fixed asset housing properties (39,644) (35,471)

Grants received 6,854 4,571

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 2,711 8,448

Purchase of other fixed assets (169) (1,979)

Interest received 520 247

Social Investment income 441 528

(29,287) (23,656)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (8,396) (8,143)

(Decrease) in loan finance (293) (629)

Loan issue costs - (505)
(8,689) (9,277)

Net Change in cash and cash equivalents (23,937) (8,563)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 35,742 44,305

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11,805 35,742

Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
For year ended 31 March 2024
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Note A - Cash flow from operating activities 2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year after tax 6,119 27,608

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation 8,804 7,953

Impairment (151) (55)

(Increase) in stock/housing held for sale (2,316) (1,502)

(Increase) in trade and other debtors (1,068) (37)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other creditors (2.973) 3,047

Interest received (672) (457)

Interest payable 8,467 7,901

Corporation Tax 11 (91)

Pension costs less contributions payable (45) (75)

Carrying value of disposal of fixed assets 728 3,197

Fair value adjustment to financial instruments 300 (14,325)

Adjustments for investing & financing activities

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets (2,711) (8,448)

Amortisation of loan arrangement fees 97 85

Government grants amortised in the year (683) (510)

RCGF Movement 132 49

Social Investment Write Off - 30

Net cash inflow from operating activities 14,039 24,370

The notes on pages 49 to 88 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
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For year ended 31 March 2024

1. Legal Status
Livv Housing Group is registered under the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 and is a registered provider of social 
housing. 

The registered office is Lakeview, Kings Business 
Park, Prescot, Merseyside, L34 1PJ.

The Group has three subsidiaries; Livv 
Maintenance Limited, Livv Homes Limited and 
First Ark Social investment Limited registered 
under the Companies Act. 

2. Principal Accounting 
Policies
Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of the group and 
association have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 
102) the Housing SORP 2018: Statement 
of Recommended Practice for Registered 
Social Housing Providers and comply with the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2022. 

The accounts are presented in £ sterling and 
rounded to the nearest £’000, unless stated 
otherwise. 

They are prepared on the historical cost basis, 
other than as modified for the fair value of 
certain financial instruments as set out in the 
policies below.

Parent company disclosure 
exemptions
In preparing the separate financial statements of 
the parent company, advantage has been taken 
of the following disclosure exemptions:

•	The requirement to present a parent company 
statement of cash flows and related notes.

•	Disclosures in respect of the parent 
company’s financial instruments have not 
been presented as equivalent disclosures 
have been provided in respect of the Group as 
a whole. 

Going Concern
The recent economic turbulence, with higher 
interest rates and cost inflation and increased 
uncertainty in the supply chain, has meant 
that the Executive Team and Board have 
been reviewing our financial forecasts and 
undertaking scenario planning more frequently. 

Our scenario planning has reflected updated 
economic assumptions and included significant 
reductions in rent collected, more extreme 
inflation on costs, reductions in rent inflation 
assumptions, and significant cash requirements 
relating to failing development contractors and 
other supply side challenges, as well as changes 
to market conditions such as sales programmes. 

This additional scrutiny has delivered some 
excellent insight for the organisation and has 
stress tested our financial resilience and given 
great assurance with respect to our viability 
and our ability to withstand a range of material 
single and multi-variant negative financial 
impacts. All of which provide assurance and 
confidence that the Group will remain a viable 
going concern even in the most adverse or 
extreme circumstances. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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On this basis the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future, being a period of at 
least twelve months after the date on which 
the financial statements are signed. Therefore, 
it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.

Significant management 
judgements 
The following are the significant management 
judgements made in applying the accounting 
policies of the Group that have the most 
significant effect on the financial statements.

Capitalisation of property development costs 

The Group capitalises development expenditure 
in accordance with the accounting policy on 
housing properties. Initial capitalisation of costs 
is based on management’s judgement that a 
development scheme is confirmed, usually when 
Board approval has taken place including access 
to the appropriate funding. In determining 
whether a project is likely to cease, management 
monitors the development and considers if 
changes have occurred that result in impairment.

Estimation uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions 
that have the most significant effect on 
recognition and measurement of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses is provided 
below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.

1) Impairment

Tangible fixed assets (mainly housing 
properties) are assessed for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting date in accordance 
with FRS 102 27.7. Indicators include changes 
in government policy, a reduction in the market 
value of properties where the occupant has the 
right to acquire, a reduction in the demand for 
a property, losses from operating that property, 
obsolescence of a property or contamination of a 
site. Indicators for properties under construction 
include any unforeseen additional costs that 
do not add value. Where no such indicators of 
impairment are identified to have occurred at 
the reporting date, it is assumed that there is no 
impairment.

Where there is an indicator of impairment we 
have followed the process outlined below:

•	determined the level at which the recoverable 
amount is to be assessed. This was 
determined to be at individual property level;

•	estimated the recoverable amount of the 
property using the higher of EUV-SH 
valuations or depreciated replacement cost, 
using appropriate construction costs and land 
prices;

•	calculated the carrying amount of the 
property; and

•	compared the carrying amount to the 
recoverable amount to determine if an 
impairment loss has occurred.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over 
their useful lives taking into account residual 
values, where appropriate. The actual lives of 
the assets and residual values are assessed 
annually and may vary depending on a number 
of factors. In re-assessing asset lives, factors 
such as technological innovation, product life 
cycles and maintenance programmes are taken 
into account. Residual value assessments 
consider issues such as future market conditions, 
the remaining life of the asset and projected 
disposal values.

3) Components of housing properties and 
useful lives

Major components of housing properties have 
significantly different patterns of consumption 
of economic benefits and estimates are made 
to allocate the initial cost of the property to 
its major components and to depreciate each 
component separately over its useful economic 
life. The association considers whether there 
are any indications that the useful lives require 
revision at each reporting date to ensure that 
they remain appropriate.

4) Provisions

Provision is made for certain operating liabilities 
and for amounts owed to the business that are 
considered to be uncollectable, including former 
and current tenant rent arrears. These provisions 
require management’s best estimate of the costs 
that will be incurred based on legislative and 
contractual requirements. In addition, the timing 
of the cash flows and the discount rates used 
to establish net present value of the obligations 
require management’s judgement.

5) Fair value measurement 

Management obtains external expert valuations 
to determine the fair value of non-basic financial 
instruments (where active market quotes are 
not available). The valuation technique used 

involves developing estimates and assumptions 
consistent with how market participants would 
price the instrument, based on observable data 
or the best information available. More details 
are set out in note 27.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements present 
the results of Livv Housing Group and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”) as if they formed 
a single entity. Intercompany transactions 
and balances between group companies are 
therefore eliminated in full.

Turnover and revenue 
recognition
Turnover comprises rental income receivable in 
the year, service charge income, income from 
shared ownership first tranche sales, sales of 
properties built for sale, support services and 
other services included at the invoiced value 
(excluding VAT where recoverable) of goods 
and services supplied in the year and grants 
receivable in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for 
letting, net of any voids. Service charge income 
is recognised in the period to which it relates net 
of losses from voids.

Income from first tranche sales and sales of 
properties built for sale is recognised at the 
point of legal completion of the sale. Charges 
for support services funded under Supporting 
People are recognised as they fall due under the 
contractual arrangements with Administering 
Authorities.

Turnover in the consolidated group includes 
interest received on investments granted with 
First Ark Social Investment.
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Loan interest costs
Loan interest costs are calculated using the 
effective interest method of the difference 
between the loan amount at initial recognition 
and amount of maturity of the related loan.

Loan finance issue costs
Loan finance issue costs are amortised over the 
life of the related loan. Loans are stated in the 
Statement of Financial Position at the amount 
of the net proceeds after issue, plus increases to 
account for any subsequent amounts amortised. 
Where loans are redeemed during the year, 
any redemption penalty and any connected 
loan finance issue costs are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year 
in which the redemption took place.

Service charges
Service charge income and costs are recognised 
Service charge income and costs are recognised 
on an accruals basis. The Group operates both 
fixed and variable service charges on a scheme 
by scheme basis in full consultation with 
residents. Where variable service charges are 
used the charges will include an allowance for 
the surplus or deficit from prior years, with the 
surplus being returned to residents by a reduced 
charge and a deficit being recovered by a higher 
charge. 

Where periodic expenditure is required, a 
provision may be built up over the years in 
consultation with the residents. Until these costs 
are incurred, this liability is held in the Statement 
of Financial Position within long term creditors.

Taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in statement 
of comprehensive income, except that a change 
attributable to an item of income or expense 
recognised as other comprehensive income or 
to an item recognised directly in equity is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated 
on the basis of tax rates and laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date in the countries where the 
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable 
income.

Deferred balances are recognised in respect of 
all timing differences that have originated but 
not reversed by the balance sheet date, except:

•	the recognition of deferred tax assets is 
limited to the extent that it is probable that 
they will be recovered against the reversal of 
deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable 
profits;

•	any deferred tax balances are reversed if and 
when all conditions for retaining associated 
tax allowances have been met; and 

•	where timing differences relate to interests in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and 
the Group can control their reversal and such 
reversal is not considered probable in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax balances are not recognised in 
respect of permanent differences except in 
respect of business combinations, when deferred 
tax is recognised on the differences between 
the fair values of assets acquired and the future 
tax deductions available for them and the 
differences between the fair value of liabilities 
acquired and the amount that will be assessed 
for tax.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax 
rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.
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Value Added Tax
The group is partially exempt in relation to 
Value Added Tax (VAT), and accordingly is able 
to recover from HM Revenue & Customs part of 
the VAT incurred on expenditure. At the year-
end VAT recoverable or payable is included in 
the statement of financial position. Irrecoverable 
VAT is accounted for in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Tangible fixed assets and 
depreciation
Housing properties
Housing properties are properties held for 
Housing properties are properties held for 
the provision of social housing or otherwise 
provide social benefit. Properties are available 
for rent and are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation less impairment. 

Housing properties under construction are 
stated at cost and are not depreciated. These are 
reclassified as housing properties on practical 
completion of construction.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Where a housing property comprises two or 
more major components with substantially 
different useful economic lives (UELs), each 
component is accounted for separately and 
depreciated over its individual UEL. Expenditure 
relating to subsequent replacement or renewal 
of components is capitalised as incurred.

The Group depreciates freehold housing 
properties by component on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated UELs of the component 
categories.

The Group considers whether there are any 
indications that the useful lives require revision 
at each reporting date to ensure that they 
remain appropriate. 

The UELs for identified components are as 
follows:

Component Useful economic life

Structure 85 years

Kitchens 25 years

Bathrooms 30 years

Roofs 65 years

Windows and doors 40 years

Mechanical installation 40 years

Boilers / storage heaters 15 - 20 years

Electrical installation 30 years

Lift 20 years

Shower 30 years

Solar panels 20 years

The Group depreciates housing properties 
held on long term leases in the same manner 
as freehold properties, except where the 
unexpired lease term is shorter than the longest 
component life envisaged, in which case the 
unexpired term of the lease is adopted as the 
useful economic life of the relevant component 
category.

Other Tangible fixed assets
Depreciation is charged on other tangible fixed 
assets on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful economic lives which are as follows:

Fixed asset type Useful economic life

Office premises 10-20 years

Plant and machinery 4 years

Computer equipment 3 years

Furniture, equipment 
and vehicles

4 years
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Shared ownership properties
The costs of low-cost home ownership 
properties are split between current and fixed 
assets on the basis of the first tranche portion. 
The first tranche portion is accounted for as a 
current asset and the sale proceeds shown in 
Turnover. 

The remaining element of the shared ownership 
property is accounted for as a fixed asset and 
subsequent sales treated as sales of fixed 
assets.

Donated land and other assets
Land and other assets donated by local 
authorities and other government sources is 
added to cost at the fair value of the land at 
the time of the donation. Where the land is 
not related to a specific development, and is 
donated by a public body an amount equivalent 
to the increase in value between fair value 
and consideration paid is treated as a non-
monetary government grant and recognised on 
the statement of financial position as deferred 
income within liabilities. Where the donation 
is from a non-public source, the value of the 
donation is included as income.

Impairment
Housing properties are assessed for impairment 
indicators annually. Where indicators are 
identified an assessment for impairment is 
undertaken comparing the property’s carrying 
amount to its recoverable amount. Where the 
carrying amount of a property is deemed to 
exceed its recoverable amount, the property 
is written down to its recoverable amount. 
The resulting impairment loss is recognised as 
operating expenditure. Where the property is 
currently deemed not to be providing service 
potential to the Association, its recoverable 
amount is its fair value less costs to sell.

Leasing and hire purchase
Where assets are financed by hire purchase 
contracts and leasing agreements that give 
rights approximating to ownership (finance 
leases), they are treated as if they had been 
purchased outright. The amount capitalised 
is the present value of the minimum lease 
payments payable over the term of the lease. 
The corresponding leasing commitments are 
shown as obligations to the lessor in creditors. 
They are depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and their useful economic lives.

Lease payments are analysed between capital 
and interest components so that the interest 
element of the payment is charged to profit and 
loss over the term of the lease and is calculated 
so that it represents a constant proportion of the 
balance of capital repayments outstanding. The 
capital part reduces the amounts payable to the 
lessor.

Other leases are treated as operating leases 
and payments are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.

Reverse premiums and similar incentives 
received on leases to enter into operating lease 
agreements are released to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income over the term of the 
lease.
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Stock and properties held for sale
Stocks of materials are stated at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value, being the 
estimated selling price less costs to complete 
and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase 
on a first in, first out basis. Work in progress and 
finished goods include labour and attributable 
overheads.

Properties developed for outright sale are 
included in current assets as they are intended 
to be sold, at the lower of cost or estimated 
selling price less costs to complete and sell.

At each reporting date, stocks of materials 
and properties held for sale are assessed for 
impairment. If there is evidence of impairment, 
the carrying amount is reduced to its selling 
price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Short-term debtors and creditors
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest 
rate, and receivable or payable within one year, 
are recorded at the transaction price. Any losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the 
income statement in other operating expenses.

Where deferral of payment terms has been 
agreed at below market rate, and where 
material, the balance is shown as the present 
value, discounted at a market rate.

Rent arrears
Where a repayment schedule is in place for rent 
arrears, a net present value adjustment is made 
to reflect the impact of the timing of future cash 
flows. Where arrears from former and current 
tenants are not expected to be recovered, and 
there is no repayment schedule in place, a 
provision is made for the full value of the debt.

Government grants
Government grants include grants receivable 
from Homes England, local authorities, and 
other government organisations. Government 
grants received for housing properties are 
recognised in income over the useful life of 
the housing property structure and, where 
applicable, its individual components (excluding 
land) under the accruals model.

Grants relating to revenue are recognised in 
income and expenditure over the same period 
as the expenditure to which they relate once 
reasonable assurance has been gained that the 
entity will comply with the conditions and that 
the funds will be received.

Grants due from government organisations 
or received in advance are included as current 
assets or liabilities.

Government grants received for housing 
properties are subordinated to the repayment of 
loans by agreement with the Homes England. 
Government grants released on sale of a 
property may be repayable but are normally 
available to be recycled and are credited to a 
Recycled Capital Grant Fund and included in 
the statement of financial position in creditors. 
If there is no requirement to recycle or repay the 
grant on disposal of the asset, any unamortised 
grant remaining within creditors is released and 
recognised as income in income and expenditure.

Where individual components are disposed 
of and this does not create a relevant event 
for recycling purposes, any grant which has 
been allocated to the component is released to 
income and expenditure.
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Other grants
Grants received from non-government sources 
are recognised using the performance model. 
A grant which does not impose specified 
future performance conditions is recognised as 
revenue when the grant proceeds are received 
or receivable. A grant that imposes specified 
future performance-related conditions on the 
association is recognised only when these 
conditions are met. A grant received before 
the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied is 
recognised as deferred income.

Reserves
It is the policy of the Group to hold reserves to 
accumulate income in order to set aside funds 
for special purposes or as reserves against 
future expenditure.

Holiday pay accrual
A liability is recognised to the extent of any 
unused holiday pay entitlement which has 
accrued at the balance sheet date and carried 
forward to future periods. This is measured 
at the undiscounted salary cost of the future 
holiday entitlement so accrued at the balance 
sheet date.

Pensions
Contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

Livv Housing Group previously participated in a 
multi-employer funded defined benefit scheme, 
the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF). Livv 
Housing Group exited the fund on 31 December 
2015.

The Group retains liability for pensions that 
were being paid at that date. Scheme liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis. The   liability 
is presented separately from other net assets on 
the statement of financial position. 

The current service cost and costs from 
settlements and curtailments are charged 
against operating surplus. Past service costs 
are recognised in the current reporting period. 
Interest is calculated on the net defined benefit 
liability. Re-measurements are reported in other 
comprehensive income.

Public benefit entity concessionary loans
Public benefit entity concessionary loans are 
initially recognised as a loan at the amount paid 
to the purchaser and are subsequently updated 
to reflect accrued interest. Any impairment loss 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and demand deposits, together with 
other short term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible into known amounts of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

Treasury policy
The Group ensures adequate liquidity is 
maintained at all times to meet unexpected 
expenditure requirements that may arise. 
A minimum of £5m is held in cash deposits 
available to withdraw immediately. The funds 
are kept in an interest-bearing deposit account 
in an attempt to maximise interest wherever 
possible in the event of the association having 
surplus funds, consideration will be given firstly 
to supporting its capital investment programmes 
and the subsequently to repay its debt.
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Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
measured at the transaction price initially, 
plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial 
liability not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 
financial liability. 

At the end of each reporting period, financial 
instruments are measured as shown below, 
without any deduction for transaction costs the 
entity may incur on sale or other disposal:

Debt instruments that meet the conditions in 
paragraph 11.8(b) of FRS 102 are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except where the arrangement 
constitutes a financing transaction. In this case 
the debt instrument is measured at the present 
value of the future payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar debt.

Financial instruments held by the Group are 
classified as follows:

•	financial assets such as cash, current asset 
investments and receivables are classified 
as loans and receivables, and are held at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method;

•	financial liabilities such as bank loans are held 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method; and

•	non-basic financial instruments are recognised 
at fair value using a valuation technique with 
any gains or losses being reported in surplus 
or deficit. At each year end, the instruments 
are revalued to fair value, with the movements 
posted to the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets are assessed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. If there is objective evidence of 
impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in 
statement of comprehensive income immediately.

The following financial instruments are assessed 
individually for impairment:

(a) all equity instruments regardless of 
significance; and
(b) other financial assets that are individually 
significant.

Other financial instruments are assessed for 
impairment either individually or grouped on the 
basis of similar credit risk characteristics.

An impairment loss is measured as follows, on 
the following instruments measured at cost or 
amortised cost:

(a) for an instrument measured at amortised 
cost, the impairment loss is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate; and
(b) for an instrument measured at cost less 
impairment, the impairment loss is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the best estimate of the amount 
that the entity would receive for the asset if it 
were to be sold at the reporting date.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an 
impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed either 
directly or by adjusting an allowance account. 
The reversal cannot result in a carrying amount 
(net of any allowance account) which exceeds 
what the carrying amount would have been had 
the impairment not previously been recognised. 
The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income immediately.
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3a. Turnover, cost of sales, operating 
expenditure and operating surplus

2024

Group
Turnover 

 
£’000

Other 
Income 

£’000

Cost of 
Sales 
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

£’000

Operating 
surplus 

£’000

Social housing lettings (Note 4a) 67,618 - - (54,811) 12,807

Other social housing activities

Supporting people contract income 67 - - (62) 5

Other supporting people income 155 - - (126) 29

First tranche shared ownership sales 5,119 - (4,987) - 132

Community investment 169 - - (643) (474)

Management Services 132 - - (104) 28

Gain on disposal of housing properties - 1,851 - - 1,851

Total other social housing activities 5,642 1,851 (4,987) (935) 1,571

 
Non-social housing activities

Market rate lettings - Garages (Note 4c) 164 - - (164) -

Facilities Management Services 586 - - (553) 33

Total Non-social housing activities 750 - - (717) 33

Total 74,010 1,851 (4,987) (56,463) 14,411
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2023

Group
Turnover 

 
£’000

Other 
Income 

£’000

Cost of 
Sales 
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

£’000

Operating 
surplus 

£’000

Social housing lettings (Note 4a) 62,975 - - (47,048) 15,927 

Other social housing activities      

Supporting people contract income 77 - - (52) 25 

Other supporting people income 157 - - (117) 40 

First tranche shared ownership sales 3,493 - (3,423) - 70 

Community investment 268 - - (723) (455) 

Management Services 96 - - (68) 28

Gain on disposal of housing properties - 5,202 - - 5,202

Total Other social housing activities 4,091 5,202 (3,423) (960) 4,910

 
Non-social housing activities

Market rate lettings - Garages (Note 4c) 157 - - (157) - 

Facilities Management Services 534 - - (500) 34

Total non-social housing activities 691 - - (657) 34

Total 67,757 5,202 (3,423) (48,665) 20,871
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3b. Turnover, cost of sales, operating 
expenditure and operating surplus

2024

Association
Turnover 

 
£’000

Other 
Income 

£’000

Cost of 
Sales 
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

£’000

Operating 
surplus 

£’000

Social housing lettings (Note 4b) 68,445 - - (54,893) 13,552

Other social housing activities

Supporting people contract income 67 - - (62) 5

Other supporting people income 155 - - (126) 29

First tranche shared ownership sales 5,119 - (4,987) - 132

Community investment 146 - - (620) (474)

Management Services 132 - - (104) 28

Gain on disposal of housing properties - 1,851 - - 1,851

Total Other social housing activities 5,619 1,851 (4,987) (912) 1,571

Non-social housing activities

Market rate lettings - Garages (Note 4c) 164 - - (164) - 

Internal Management Services 962 - - (962) -

Total non-social housing activities 1,126 - - (1,126) -

Total 75,190 1,851 (4,987) (56,931) 15,123
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2023

Association
Turnover 

 
£’000

Other 
Income 

£’000

Cost of 
Sales 
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

£’000

Operating 
surplus 

£’000

Social housing lettings (Note 4b) 63,443 - - (47,601) 15,842

Other social housing activities

Supporting people contract income 77 - - (52) 25 

Other supporting people income 157 - - (117) 40 

First tranche shared ownership sales 3,493 - (3,423) - 70

Community investment 200 - - (655) (455) 

Management Services 96 - - (68) 28

Gain on disposal of housing properties - 5,202 - - 5,202

Total Other social housing activities 4,023 5,202 (3,423) (892) 4,910

Non-social housing activities

Market rate lettings - Garages (Note 4c) 157 - - (157) - 

Internal Management Services 882 - - (882) -

Total non-social housing activities 1,039 - - (1,039) -

Total 68,505 5,202 (3,423) (49,532) 20,752
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4a. Social housing & lettings

Group

General 
housing

 
 

£’000

Supported 
housing & 

housing for 
older people

£’000

Total 2024 
 
 

£’000

Total 2023 

 
 

£’000

Income

Rent receivable net of empty homes 59,873 3,854 63,727 59,593

Services charges receivable net of empty homes 1,415 795 2,210 2,017

Amortised government grants 683 - 683 510

Other 997 1 998 855

Turnover from social housing lettings 62,968 4,650 67,618 62,975

 
Operating expenditure

Management (18,748) (155) (18,903) (17,070)

Service charge costs (2,170) (1,001) (3,171) (3,415)

Routine maintenance (17,681) (590) (18,271) (15,029)

Major repairs expenditure (5,945) (199) (6,144) (3,499)

Bad debts (273) - (273) (461)

Depreciation of housing properties (8,237) - (8,237) (7,509)

Impairment of housing properties 91 - 91 73

Fixed Asset Component disposal acceleration depreciation - - - (167)

Other costs 97 - 97 29

Operating expenditure on social housing lettings (52,866) (1,945) (54,811) (47,048)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 10,102 2,705 12,807 15,927

Void losses (being rental income lost as a result of property 
not being let, although it is available for letting)

794 82 876 415
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4b. Social housing & lettings

Association

General 
housing

 
 

£’000

Supported 
housing & 

housing for 
older people

£’000

Total 2024 

 
 

£’000

Total 2023 

 
 

£’000

Income

Rent receivable net of empty homes 59,873 3,854 63,727 59,593

Services charges receivable net of empty homes 1,415 795 2,210 2,017

Amortised government grants 683 - 683 510

Other 1,824 1 1,825 1,323

Turnover from social housing lettings 63,795 4,650 68,445 63,443

Operating expenditure

Management (18,830) (155) (18,985) (17,623) 

Service charge costs (2,170) (1,001) (3,171) (3,415) 

Routine maintenance (17,681) (590) (18,271) (15,029) 

Major repairs expenditure (5,945) (199) (6,144) (3,499)

Bad debts (273) - (273) (461) 

Depreciation of housing properties (8,237) - (8,237) (7,509) 

Impairment of housing properties 91 - 91 73 

Fixed Asset Component disposal acceleration depreciation - - - (167) 

Other Costs 97 - 97 29

Operating expenditure on social housing lettings (52,948) (1,945) (54,893) (47,601)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 10,847 2,705 13,552 15,842

Void losses (being rental income lost as a result of property 
not being let, although it is available for letting) 794 82 876 415

4c. Market rate lettings
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Garages 164 157 164 157
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5. Accommodation owned, managed and in development

Group
31.03.23

Units

Additions Disposals 31.03.24

Units

Social housing

Owned General needs – social rent 11,092 - (299) 10,793

Owned General needs – affordable rent 923 162 (2) 1,083

Owned General needs – intermediate rent 104 7 111

Owned – housing for older people 587 - 587

Shared Ownership           257 101 (3) 355

Total owned and managed 12,963 270 (304) 12,929

At the end of the year, accommodation in management for each class of accommodation was as 
follows:
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Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

The operating surplus is stated after (crediting)/charging:

Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT): 
Audit of the group financial statements

 
83

 
78

 
73

 
68

Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for 
other services to the group:

Taxation compliance services 8 7 7 6

Other 6 5 6 5 

Operating lease rentals:

Equipment 21 21 21 21

Vehicles 546 588 - -

Impairment (gains) of housing properties (91) (73) (91) (73)

Depreciation of housing properties 8,237 7,509 8,237 7,509

Depreciation of other assets 567 444 567 440

6. Operating surplus
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7. Employee information

Group Association

2024 
No.

2023 
No.

2024 
No.

2023 
No.

Development 15 14 15 14

Housing Maintenance 136 140 - -

Business Services 169 160 111 106

Customer and communities 121 114 121 114

Asset management 32 34 32 34

Charitable Activities 7 7 7 7

480 469 286 275

The average number of colleagues (including Executives) employed during the year expressed in full 
time equivalents was:

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 18,001 16,826 11,364 10,786

Social Security costs 1,884 1,760 1,217 1,130

Other pension costs – defined contribution or defined benefit 855 766 536 474

20,740 19,352 13,117 12,390
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All of the Executives of Livv Housing Group and its subsidiaries, including the Chief Executive, are 
paid by Livv Housing Group, which is the Ultimate Parent Undertaking. 

The remuneration of the highest paid director for the year, excluding pension contributions, was 
£253k (2023: £255k), including car allowance of £23k (2023: £21k) and a one-off bonus of £Nil 
(2023: £20k).

The aggregate remuneration for key management personnel (executives) charged in the year was: 

The full-time equivalent number of staff who received remuneration exceeding £60,000 in the year:                                                               

Group Association

2024 
No.

2023 
No.

2024 
No.

2023 
No.

£60,000 - £70,000 17 11 15 10

£70,000 - £80,000 7 8 7 8

£80,000 - £90,000 4 3 4 2

£90,000 - £100,000 3  6 3 6

£100,000 - £110,000 4  - 3 -

£110,000 - £120,000 1 2 1 2

£180,000 - £190,000 1 1 1 1

£190,000 - £200,000 1 1 1 1

£210,000 - £220,000 1 1 1 1

£250,000 - £260,000 1 1 1 1

40 33 37 31

8. Key management personnel and 
directors’ remuneration 

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Wages and salaries (incl. car allowance and bonus) 921 915 921 915 

Benefits in Kind 1 1 1 1

Pension Contributions 50 46 50 46

NI Contributions 122 126 122 126 

1,094 1,088 1,094 1,088
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2024 
£

2023 
£

Chair 18,000 18,000

Vice Chair 11,000 11,000

Board Member - 7,000

Board Member 7,000 7,000

Board Member & Chair of BDGI Committee 9,000 9,000

Board Member & FASI Chair 9,000 9,000

Board Member - 7,000

Board Member & Chair of Audit and Risk Committee 9,000 9,000

Board Member & Chair of Remuneration & Nominations Committee - 9,000

Board Member 9,000 2,917

Independent Member of BDGI Committee*1 2,333 3,500

Independent Member to Audit and Risk Committee 3,500 3,500

Independent Member of BDGI Committee 3,500 3,500

Independent Member to Audit and Risk Committee*2 1,167 3,500

Board Member 7,000 -

Board Member 7,000 -

Board Member 7,000 -

Board Member – Livv and Flourish*3 292 -

103,792 102,917

There were expenses paid to Board 
members in the year of £5k (2023: £2k).

*1 Covers a period of eight months. 

*2 Covers a period of four months.  

*3 Covers a period of one month.  

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Basic salary 104 103 104 103

The Chief Executive is paid by Livv Housing Group and is eligible to join the Livv Housing Group’s 
defined contribution scheme on the same terms as all other employees.  The Group does not make 
any further contribution to an individual pension arrangement for the Chief Executive.

The aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by non-executive Board Members in the year was:
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9. Gain on disposal of fixed assets (Group and Association) 
RTB / RTA 

£’000
Staircasing 

£’000
Other 
£’000

Total 2024 
£’000

 Total 2023 
£’000

Proceeds of sales 2,315 327 69 2,711 8,448

Carrying value (596) (132) - (728) (3,197)

Surplus 1,719 195 69 1,983 5,251

Recycled capital grants fund (Note 25) (50) (82) - (132) (49) 

1,669 113 69 1,851 5,202

10. Interest receivable and other income
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Interest receivable 672 366 620 351

672 366 620 351

11. Interest and financing costs
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Loans and bank overdrafts 8,564 7,986 8,564 7,986

Pension interest cost 89 59 89 59

8,653 8,045 8,653 8,045

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

12. Tax on surplus on ordinary activities
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Current tax

UK corporation tax on surplus for the year - 8 - 8

Adjustments in respect of prior years - (89) - -

- (81) - 8

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences 11     (10) -    -   

Adjustment in respect of prior periods -    -   -    -   

11     (10) - -

Total tax (credit)/charge 11     (91) - 8

The tax assessed in the year is lower than the standard rate of Corporation tax in the United 
Kingdom at 25% (2023: 19%).  The differences are explained as follows:

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 6,130 27,517 6,790 27,383

Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax rate 25% (2023: 19%) 1,533 5,228 1,698 5,203

Income not taxable for tax purposes (19,393) (17,211) (19,359) (17,054)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 17,851 11,980 17,641 11,856

Utilisation of losses - 17 - -

Tax adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods - (89) - -

Movement in deferred tax not recognised 20 (16) 20   (14)

11 (91) - 8
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13. Housing properties
 Group   Social housing 

properties 
completed 

 
£’000

Social housing 
properties 

under 
construction 

£’000

Shared 
ownership 
completed 

 
£’000

Shared 
ownership 

under 
construction 

£’000

Total housing 
properties 

 
 

£’000

Cost

At start of the year 341,852 32,111 18,044 6,270 398,277 

Works to existing properties 8,399 - - - 8,399

Additions 5,844 16,592 7,216 517 30,169

Schemes completed 17,298 (17,298) 2,039 (2,039) -

Reclassification 1,267 (1,267) - - -

Disposals - properties (7,416) - (258) - (7,674)

                  - components (90) - - - (90)

At the end of the year 367,154 30,138 27,041 4,748 429,081

Depreciation

At start of the year (107,789) - (868) - (108,657) 

Charge for the year (8,073) - (164) - (8,237)

Impairment gain 3,601 - - - 3,601

Disposals - properties 2,700 - 10 - 2,710

                  - components 68 - - - 68

At the end of the year (109,493) - (1,022) - (110,515)

Net book value at the end 
of the year

257,661 30,138 26,019 4,748 318,566

Net book value at the start 
of the year

234,063 32,111 17,176 6,270 289,620

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Association Social housing 
properties 
completed 

 
£’000

Social housing 
properties 

under 
construction 

£’000

Shared 
ownership 
completed 

 
£’000

Shared 
ownership 

under 
construction 

£’000

Total housing 
properties 

 
 

£’000

Cost

At start of the year 342,145 32,111 18,044 6,270 398,570 

Works to existing properties 8,414 - - - 8,414

Additions 5,844 16,592 7,216 517 30,169

Schemes completed 17,298 (17,298) 2,039 (2,039) -

Reclassification 1,267 (1,267) - -

Disposals - properties (7,416) - (258) - (7,674)

                     - components (90) - - - (90)

At the end of the year 367,462 30,138 27,041 4,748 429,389

Depreciation

At start of the year (107,789) - (868) - (108,657) 

Charge for the year (8,073) - (164) - (8,237)

Impairment gain 3,601 - - - 3,601

Disposals - properties 2,700 - 10 - 2,710

                  - components 68 - - - 68

At the end of the year (109,493) - (1,022) - (110,515)

Net book value at the end 
of the year

257,969 30,138 26,019 4,748 318,874

Net book value at the start 
of the year

234,356 32,111 17,176 6,270 289,913 
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Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Amounts capitalised 8,399 12,171 8,414 12,355 

Amounts charged to income and expenditure account 6,144 3,499 6,144 3,499

14,543 15,670 14,558 15,854 

The impairment provision at 31 March 2024 is £425k (restated 2023: £4,026k), with £3,640k of the 
movement relating to the release of provision relating to 257 decommissioned properties that were 
demolished in 2023/24, which is offset by an increase of £39k relating to impairment of existing 
housing properties. As part of the current year impairment review £19k had been incorrectly 
included in the prior year impairment provision, 2023 position has therefore been adjusted in the 
current year to correct for this. 

As part of the current year housing properties review £84k had not been included in the balance of 
social housing properties completed, the 2023 cost and depreciation has therefore been restated in 
the current year to correct this. 

Expenditure on major works to existing properties:

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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14. Other property, plant & equipment – Group and Association
 Group   Offices 

 
 

£’000

Furniture 
fixings and 

fittings 
£’000

Computers 
and office 

equipment 
£’000

Plant and 
machinery 

 
£’000

Total other 
property, plant 

& equipment 
£’000

Cost

At start of the year 4,749 931 5,174 127 10,981

Additions - 2 167 - 169

At the end of the year 4,749 933 5,341 1274 11,150

Depreciation

At start of the year (3,024) (495) (4,799) (127) (8,455)

Charge for the year (229) (122) (216) - (567)

At the end of the year (3,253) (617) (5,015) (127) (9,012)

Net book value at the end 
of the year

1,496 316 326 - 2,138

Net book value at the start 
of the year

1,725 437 373 - 2,535

Association Offices 
 
 

£’000

Furniture 
fixings and 

fittings 
£’000

Computers 
and office 

equipment 
£’000

Plant and 
machinery 

 
£’000

Total other 
property, plant 

& equipment 
£’000

Cost

At start of the year 4,749 931 5,167 113 10,960

Additions - 2 167 - 169

At the end of the year 4,749 933 5,334 113 11,129

Depreciation

At start of the year (3,024) (495) (4,792) (113) (8,425)

Charge for the year (229) (122) (216) - (567)

At the end of the year (3,253) (617) (5,008) (113) (8,991)

Net book value at the end 
of the year

1,496 316 326 - 2,138

Net book value at the start 
of the year

1,725 437 373 - 2,535
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15. 	Fixed asset investments
As at 31 March 2024, the Group comprises the following entities, all registered in England:

Name Incorporation and Ownership Regulated/
Non-regulated

Nature of Business

Livv Housing Group Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Society – 100%

Regulated Housing association

Livv Maintenance Limited Company – 100% Non-regulated Property repairs and 
facilities management 
services

First Ark Social Investment Limited Company – 100% Non-regulated Social investment

Livv Homes Limited (non-trading) Company – 100% Non-regulated Combined facilities 
support activities

The authorised Share Capital of Livv Maintenance Limited of 1 Ordinary £1 share is allotted, called up 
and fully paid and owned by Livv Housing Group, who is the ultimate parent undertaking.

The authorised Share Capital of First Ark Social Investment Limited of 1 Ordinary £1 share is allotted, 
called up and fully paid and owned by Livv Housing Group, who is the ultimate parent undertaking.

The authorised Share Capital of Livv Homes Limited of 1 Ordinary £1 share is allotted, called up and 
fully paid and owned by Livv Housing Group, who is the ultimate parent undertaking.

The registered office of all subsidiaries listed above is Lakeview, Kings Business Park, Prescot, 
Merseyside, L34 1PJ.

16. Social investments

Group and association Mixed Motive 
Investments 

£'000

Total 
 

£'000

Cost 

At 1 April 2023 28 28

Repayments received - -

Investment written off (16) (16)

At 31 March 2024 12 12

Impairment provision

At 1 April 2023 - -

Movement in the year (9) (9)

At 31 March 2024 (9) (9)

Net book value 
31 March 2024

3 3

31 March 2023 28 28

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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17. Stock
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Raw materials and consumables 138 102 - -

18. Properties held for sale
Group and Association 2024 

£’000
2023 
£’000

Shared ownership first tranche property:

Work in progress 3,166 4,181

Completed properties 3,722 427 

6,888 4,608

19. Trade and other debtors
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Rent and service charges receivable 5,095 4,743 5,095 4,743 

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts (4,199) (4,258) (4,199) (4,258) 

Net rent arrears 896        485   896        485   

Prepayment and accrued income 4,483 5,896 4,403 5,836 

Other Debtors 333 322 247 242

Deferred tax (note 29) 3 14              -              -   

Debtors due within one year 5,715 6,717 5,546 6,563 

Debtors due more than one year 531 531 531 531

6,246 7,248 6,077 7,094 

Debtors due more than one year relate to public benefit entity concessionary 
loans issued to customers by way of a deposit for a new home following a 
compulsory buy-out arrangement. The loans are secured against the new 
properties purchased and are therefore only recoverable once title is exchanged.
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Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Investments 710 1,135 - -

Impairment Provision (196) (265) - -

514 870 - -

20. Current asset investments 

As at 31 March 2024, 49 investments (2023: 49) had been made by the subsidiary, FASI, totalling 
£3,895k (2023: £3,895k).  

These investments are funded by loan, grant and recycled cash.  The investments are repayable over a 
maximum period of 5 years with interest and capital repayments totalling £425k (2023: £509k) being 
received during the year to 31 March 2024. A provisions is made if an organisation is 3 months in 
arrears on repayment or when they are subject to any legal action.

These investments include £326k, (Restated 2023: £414k) which is repayable within 1 year. The above 
2023 investments due within one year have been restated to £414k to correct the prior year figure.

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Cash at bank 11,805 35,742 9,908 34,122

21. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Trade creditors 1,074 3,073 424 653

Rents and service charges received in advance 1,944 2,071 1,944 2,071

Other creditors 381 714 126 537

Loans due for repayment in less than one year (note 26) 265 163  -     -

Loans fees due in less than one year (note 26) (95) -  (95)    -

Accruals and deferred income 5,421 6,941 3,762 5,555

Deferred capital grant (note 24) 765 516 765 516

Amounts owed to group undertakings - - 2,332 4,671

Corporation Tax - 8  - 8

9,755 13,486 9,258 14,011

22. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Loans (note 26) 167,539 167,634 167,132 166,883

Finance costs (723) (915) (723) (915) 

Deferred capital grant (note 24) 56,811 53,875 56,811 53,875 

Recycled capital grant fund (note 25) 219    83  219    83  

Leaseholder Sinking Funds 47 37 47 37

Reserve Funds 182 159 182 159

224,075 220,873 223,668 220,072 

23. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Group and Association 2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

At start of the year 54,391 48,079 

Grant received in the year 4,643 6,883 

Disposals (775)  (61) 

Released to income in the year (683) (510) 

 57,576 54,391 

  

Amount due to be released < 1 year 765 516 

Amount due to be released > 1 year 56,811 53,875 

 57,576 54,391 

24. Deferred capital grant

Grant and Financial Assistance
The total accumulated government grant and financial 
assistance received or receivable at 31 March:

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Government funding received 61,616 57,748

Grants amortised to date (4,040) (3,357) 

57,576 54,391 



79  Livv Housing Group Annual report and financial statement 2023/24  

Group and Association 2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

At start of the year 83 32 

Grant received in the year 132 49

Interest Accrued 4 2

219     83  

25. Recycled capital grant fund

Withdrawals from the capital grants fund are used for the purchase and development 
of new housing schemes for letting and for approved works to existing properties. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Loans repayable:

Within one year 265         163 -             - 

In one year or more but less than two years -                 - - -       

In two years or more and less than five years 60,407     60,801 60,000 60,000  

In five years or more 107,132 106,833 107,132 106,833 

Less: loan issue costs (818) (915) (818) (915) 

Total loans 166,986 166,882 166,314 165,918 

26. Debt analysis

The bank loans are secured by a floating charge on allocated housing properties.

The £90m Private Placement Bond is revalued annually, with the fair value of the Bond £82.1m at 
31 March 2024 (2023: £81.8m).

The long-term loans totalling £175m are at fixed and variable rates of interest ranging from 3.57% 
to 7.16% and fall to be repaid between 2026 and 2042.

The facility is made up of £90m from the issue of a Private Placement Bond and £135m in bank 
funding.

Livv Housing Group has £30m available in the form of a revolving credit facility, of which £Nil was 
drawn at 31 March 2024 (2023: £Nil). 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Total 
 

£’000

Variable Rate 
 

£’000

Fixed rate 
 

£’000

Average rate 
of interest 

%

Loans 167,132 23,323 143,809 4.72

At 31 March 2024, the Group has the following borrowing facilities:

£’000

Undrawn facilities 80,000

80,000 

The interest rate profile of Livv Housing Group (excluding FASI) at 31 March 2024 was:
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The total loans £175m, exclude the mark to market valuation of Livv Housing Group’s private 
placement loan (£82.1m) and finance costs payable (£0.8m). 

It is a theoretical revaluation that reflects the movement in market value of this debt to the lenders, 
when compared with the interest rates that could currently be achieved when issuing this level of debt 
over the long term. This adjustment does not impact the total amount repayable by the Group if the 
loan runs to the original term. 

This adjustment has been made in accordance with FRS 102 accounting requirements and is required 
because in the unlikely event of early redemption of the private placement loan the Association would 
be exposed to cross currency settlement penalties, this breaches the conditions of FRS 102.11.9 and is 
therefore treated as a non-basic financial instrument and held at fair value. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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27. Financial instruments (Group)
The Group’s financial instruments may be analysed as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise cash at bank and in hand, trade debtors, other 
debtors, and amounts owed by group undertakings.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise bank loans and overdrafts, trade creditors, 
accruals and other creditors.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss comprise a bond under private 
placement within Livv Housing Group, the association. The financial liability has been accounted 
for as a non-basic financial instrument in accordance with the requirements of Section 12 of FRS 
102.  The fair value of the financial liability as at 31 March 2024 has been based on an equivalent 
instrument using gilt rates at the balance sheet date plus an appropriate premium.

Movements in the carrying amount of the financial liability are presented below:

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost (group) 12,138 36,065

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (group) 91.730 95,776

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (group and association) 82,132 81,883 

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Carrying amount brought forward 81,833 96,158 

Change in fair values:

Other market factors (group and association) 300 (14,325)

Carrying amount carried forward 82,132 81,833 

The cumulative changes since inception of the instrument due to changes in credit risk are £Nil 
(2023: £Nil).

The total undiscounted amount repayable at maturity in respect of the loan is £90m. 

Other market factors include the underlying movement in treasury gilt rates used in the fair value 
calculation.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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28. Pension obligations

The Merseyside Pension Fund (Group and association)
The Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) is a multi-employer scheme with more than one participating 
employer, which is administered by Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council under the regulations 
governing the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), a defined benefit scheme. 

Livv Housing Group terminated its participation in the Fund on the 31 December 2015, and the 
result of the termination is final assets and funded benefit obligations of zero.

There is still a liability in respect of unfunded benefits, and this is included in the Pension liability 
figures, although this will now be dealt with directly by Livv Housing Group independently of 
the Fund.  There is a provision under Section 21 of FRS102 for the unfunded benefit to certain 
employees.

 
Analysis of pension finance (costs)

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (89) (59)

Amounts charged to financing costs (89) (59)

Amount of gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income: 
Actuarial gain/(loss) on pension scheme 

 
16

 
175

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised 16 175

 
Reconciliation of liabilities

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Liabilities at start of year (1,885) (2,135)

Interest cost (89) (59)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 16 175

Benefits paid 134 134

Liabilities at end of year (1,824) (1,885)

 
Reconciliation of assets

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Assets at start of year 
Administration expenses

- 
- 

- 
- 

Employer contributions 134 134

Employee contributions - - 

Benefits paid (134) (134)

Assets at end of year - -

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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Pension assumptions
Duration information as at the end of the accounting period.

Macaulay duration of liabilities at latest valuation (or date of admission if later): 9 years retired.

Duration profile used to determine assumptions:

Financial Assumptions Beginning of period (p.a.) End of period (p.a.)

CPI inflation / CARE benefits revaluation 2.7% 2.7%

Increase in salaries 4.2% 4.2%

Increase in pensions in payment / deferment 2.8% 2.8%

Discount Rate 4.9% 4.9%

Post retirement mortality assumptions (normal health)

Financial Assumptions Beginning of period (p.a.) End of period (p.a.)

Non-retired members M / F

Mortality table SAPS 3 / SAPS 3 middle SAPS 3 / SAPS 3 middle

Improvements CMI 21 1.5% / CMI 21 1.5% CMI 22 1.5% / CMI 21 1.5%

Weightings 121% / 107% 115% / 103%

Additional parameters S=7.5, A=0, W20=W21=0 S=7, A=0, W20=W21=0, 
W22=25%

Life Expectancy at 65* 22.6 / 25.5 22.2 / 25.2

*currently aged 45

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Financial Assumptions Beginning of period (p.a.) End of period (p.a.)

Retired members M / F

Mortality table SAPS 3 / SAPS 3 middle SAPS 3 / SAPS 3 middle

Improvements CMI 21 1.5% / CMI 21 1.5% CMI 22 1.5% / CMI 21 1.5%

Weightings 117% / 107% 111% / 103%

Additional parameters S=7.5, A=0, W20=W21=0 S=7, A=0, W20=W21=0, 
W22=25%

Life Expectancy at 65* 21.2 / 23.7 20.9 / 23.4
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Deferred 
taxation 

£’000

At 1 April 2023 14

Movement in the year (11)

At 31 March 2024 3

29. Deferred tax (Group)

The deferred tax asset is calculated using a tax rate of 25% (2023: 19%) and is set out below.

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Deferred tax asset 3 14

3 14

30. Contingent liability 
In the current and previous years, Livv Housing Group has treated income generated by solar panels 
as trading in nature. If this was treated as miscellaneous in nature, tax would become payable of 
£80,034 and would be treated as a prior year tax charge. 

31. Capital commitments
Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Expenditure contracted for but not provided in the accounts 37,554 64,725 37,554 64,725 

Expenditure authorised by the Board but not contracted for 62,900     5,070  62,900  5,070

100,454 69,795 100,454 69,795

These commitments will be financed from cash reserves, future retained surpluses and borrowings 
available for drawdown from existing loan facilities. The development programme will also receive 
grant support, and will generate sales proceeds income.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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32. Operating Leases
During the year, the Group and the Association had minimum lease payments outstanding under 
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:  

Group Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Others:

In one year or less 556 581 12 11

Between one and five years 246 96 31 30

802 677 43 41

33. Related parties
The Association maintains a register of interests of Board members. This register is available for 
inspection at the Association’s Head Office.

During the year, the Association transacted with fellow wholly owned group undertakings 
consolidated in the accounts of the Livv Housing Group, as set out below. There are no guarantees 
given over and above the normal trading terms set out in the intra-group service agreements. There 
is no provision required for uncollectible balances and no bad debt expense is required.

Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Recharge by subsidiary

Livv Maintenance Limited - non-regulated             1,787 1,350                                                                    

First Ark Financial Investments Limited (FASI) - non-regulated  35                                                            36                                                           

Livv Homes Limited 2 -

1,824 1,386

Recharge by service

Management services 997 918

Gift Aid 827 468

1,824 1,386

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Management services are corporate recharges which include Finance, Human Resources, Finance, 
IT, Marketing and Communications costs, using an agreed methodology including time, headcount 
and service usage. Gift Aid relates to Livv Maintenance Limited and Livv Homes Limited’s results in 
financial year 2022/23 but was received by the Association in financial year 2023/24.



87  Livv Housing Group Annual report and financial statement 2023/24  

34. Analysis of net debt
Group Association

At 1 April 
2023

 
£’000

Cash 
flows

 
£’000

Non-Cash 
Movement

 
£’000

At 31 
March 
2024

£’000

At 1 April 
2023

 
£’000

Cash 
flows

 
£’000

Non-Cash 
Movement

 
£’000

At 31 
March 
2024

£’000

Cash and 
Investments

35,742 (23,937) - 11,805 34,122 (24,214) - 9,908

Debt due within 
one year

- - - - - - - -

Debt due within 
two to five years

(60,964) 292 - (60,672) (60,000) - - (60,000)

Debt due after 
five years 

(105,918) - (396) (106,314) (105,918) - (396) (106,314)

Net movement (131,140) (23,645) (396) (155,181) (131,796) (24,214) (396) (156,406)

Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

The association received charges from:

Livv Maintenance Limited - non-regulated 29,699 28,382

This charge relates to the provision of property repair and facilities management services based 
on an agreed fee structure set out in the service agreement between Livv Housing Group and Livv 
Maintenance Limited. 

Association

2024 
£’000

2023 
£’000

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (note 22) 

Livv Maintenance Limited - non-regulated 2,332 4,671

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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35. Post balance sheet events
No post balance sheet events to report.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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